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HEARI NG TO RECEI VE TESTI MONY ON
THE POSTURE OF UNI TED STATES CENTRAL COMVAND

AND UNI TED STATES AFRI CA COMVAND

Tuesday, March 15, 2022

U S. Senate
Comm ttee on Arned Services

Washi ngton, D.C.

The comm ttee net, pursuant to notice, at 9:30 a.m in
Room SD- G50, Dirksen Senate O fice Building, Hon. Jack Reed,
chairman of the commttee, presiding.

Comm ttee Menbers Present: Senators Reed [presiding],
G llibrand, Blunmenthal, Kaine, King, Warren, Peters,
Manchi n, Rosen, Kelly, Inhofe, Wcker, Fischer, Cotton,
Rounds, Ernst, Tillis, Sullivan, Cramer, Scott, Bl ackburn,

Hawl ey, and Tuberville.
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OPENI NG STATEMENT OF HON. JACK REED, U.S. SENATOR FROM
RHODE | SLAND

Chairman Reed: | would like to call the hearing to
order.

Good norning. The commttee neets today to receive
testimony from General Kenneth MKenzie, Comrander of United
States Central Command, and General Stephen Townsend,
Commander of United States Africa Command. Thank you both
for your service, and | amgrateful to the nmen and wonen
serving under your commands. And | understand this wl|
likely be the | ast appearance before this conmttee for both
of you, and | thank you for your dedicated, diligent service
to the nation and to the nen and wonen you have | ed over all
these years. And thanks also to your famlies who stood by
you and sustai ned you throughout this distinguished career.
Thank you.

Central Command remai ns one of our nost chall engi ng
theaters. O its many responsibilities, CENTCOM s top
priority is "deterring the Iranian regine's destructive and
destabilizing activities wi thout undue provocation.” This
is a conplicated and urgent m ssion. Just this weekend,
Iran clainmed responsibility for a mssile strike near the
American consulate in Irbil, Irag. This strike cones on the
heel s of escal ating malign behavior by Iran and its proxies,

who continue to nount drone and mssile attacks in the
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region, including against mlitary bases in Iraq and Syri a,
Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Em rates.

On the nuclear front, in the five years since then-
President Trunp pulled out of the Joint Conprehensive Plan
of Action, or JCPOA Iran has made key advances. It has
decreased "breakout tine" to several weeks from a year under
the agreenent. It has increased uraniumenrichnment to 60
percent, instead of just under 4 percent allowed under the
agreenent. Iran has hardened its infrastructure and
repl aced damaged equi pnrent with nore advanced nodels. And
whil e negotiations to return Iran to the JCPOA are in the
final stages, Russia's invasion of Ukraine has introduced
new conpl i cati ons.

General MKenzie, given these current dynamcs, | would
| i ke your thoughts on how to best respond to Iranian nmalign
behavi or in the region, including collaborating with allies
and partners to counter drone and mssile attacks, while
preserving space to return to the JCPQA

Last August nmarked the end of our 20-year mlitary
m ssion in Afghani stan. Despite transitioning all forces
from Af ghani stan, the Biden adm ni stration has nai ntai ned
Its commtnment to ensuring that Afghanistan cannot be used
as a base for 1SIS-K, al Qaeda, and other terrorist groups
to conduct attacks against the United States or its allies.

As such, we have assuned an "over the horizon" posture to
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counter and degrade such threats. | would ask for an update
on our capabilities and whether additional regional
agreenents have been reached to ensure we have a robust
counterterrorismarchitecture to address the threats from
these terrorist groups.

AFRI COM presents a simlarly conplex area of
responsibility. The security situation in East Africa has
been on a downward trajectory follow ng the previous
adm ni stration's decision to withdraw the mgjority of U S
mlitary personnel from Somalia in Decenber 2020. Since
then, U S. forces have been conducting periodi c engagenments
to train and advise Somali partners. However, as you note
I n your testinony, Ceneral Townsend, "U.S. and partner
efforts to disrupt and degrade the npbst dangerous vi ol ent
extrem st organi zati ons have not achi eved the success we
need." The Biden administration is taking a conprehensive
| ook at our strategy in Sonmalia. | hope you will share your
views on the current security situation as well as the
status of our engagenent with Somali partners.

The security situation in West Africa is al so
increasingly fragile. Over the past 2 years, extrem st
oper ati ons have expanded across the Sahel, including pushing
down into the littoral states in the Gulf of Cuinea.
Political unrest in Chad has led to the departure of al

nonessential U S. personnel, and high-profile attacks
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against civilian and mlitary targets in Mali, Burkina Faso,
and N ger have increased. These extrem st groups are not
currently capable of carrying out attacks outside the

regi on, but several have professed their intent to do so.

G ven these chal |l enges, General Townsend, | would like to
know what can feasibly be acconplished with partner security
forces and how sustai nabl e our posture is in such a
politically fractured environnent.

Finally, both CENTCOM and AFRI COM pl ay i nportant rol es
in our long-termstrategic conpetition with China and
Russia. In the Mddle East and Central Asia, Russia
continues to | everage hybrid warfare capabilities to expand
its own influence and stym e Western security interests.
China has also increased its presence in the region,

i ncl udi ng by deepeni ng econom c and security ties with Iran.
And, on the African continent, both Russia and China are

| ooki ng to expand their security and econom c investnents,
and may seek to | everage such access to underm ne U. S

i nfluence in critical regions. During today's hearing, |
hope you wi Il discuss your efforts to engage with partners
and the ways in which the United States can best |everage
Its conpetitive advantages to mai ntain key relationships.

Thank you, again, to our witnesses. | |look forward to
your testinonies.

As a rem nder for ny colleagues, there will be a cl osed
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STATEMENT OF HON. JAMES | NHOFE, U.S. SENATOR FROM
OKLAHOVA

Senator I nhofe: Thank you, M. Chairman, and | join
you in welcom ng our witnesses and thank themfor their
decades of service, | think particularly with -- | did not
get the order of that. But anyway, | appreciate the tine
that we have worked together and the short tine renmaining
for certainly sonme of them

| see three challenges in CENTCOM Iran's terrorist
proxi es acting nore aggressively, our partners increasingly
doubt Anerica's resolve, and Russia and China trying to fil
t hat voi d.

These chal l enges are a direct result of, in my opinion,
Presi dent Biden's m sqguided policies. He downgraded support
to our partners against Iran and its proxies. He reversed
President Trunp's terrorist designation of the Houthis. He
offered Iran nmassive sanctions relief to rejoin the failed
2015 Iran deal, even as Iran increases its aggression
agai nst us.

Iran is the forenost threat in the region. Yet our
partners see the Admi nistration' s appeasenent of Iran and
ask thenselves, are we on our owmn? |s Anerica abandoni ng
us?

Last summer's di sastrous drawdown from Af ghani st an,

which culmnated with the killing of 13 servicenenbers, only
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rei nforced these questi ons.

We al so face significant challenges in Africa,
i ncl uding the grow ng presence and capability of the ji hadi
groups across the continent. China and Russia are
exploiting Africa to destabilize our partners, project their
mlitary power, and expand their influence at our expense.

| have always viewed Africa as critical to our national
security, which is why | pushed for its creation of AFRI COM
That was back in 2007, and it is right now nore of a concern
than it was at that tine. General Townsend, | w | speak
nore about this issue of Western Sahara during ny questions,
but | am pl eased the Secretary provi ded gui dance to assess
alternative | ocations and hosts for DoD exercises in Africa,
i ncl udi ng the annual African Lion exercise. This will be
crucial to ensuring we grow better relationships in Africa,
and help reverse the tide in our strategic conpetition with
Chi na and Russi a.

Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Chairman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator [|nhofe.
Let me now recogni ze General MKenzie for his statenent.

General, thank you, sir.

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL McKENZI E, COVMANDER, UNI TED
STATES CENTRAL COMVAND

General McKenzie: Chairman Reed, Ranki ng Menber
| nhofe, |adies and gentlenen of the conmttee, thank you for
allowing ne the opportunity to testify for the final tine
regarding U.S. Central Command's posture in an area of
responsibility that enconpasses 21 nations and 600 mllion
people, and it is at the strategy nexus of the world s nost
i mportant corridors of trade.

Much has transpired since | |ast delivered ny annual
posture testinony, nost notably the conclusion of our
mlitary canpaign in Afghani stan and Russia's recent
I nvasi on of UKkrai ne.

Anerica's interest in the Central Region and the
chal | enges we confront there have proven remarkably
resilient. CENTCOM s mission, to direct and enable mlitary
operations and activities wwth allies and partners to
I ncrease regional stability in support of enduring U S.
Interests, is essentially unchanged fromthe day of the
command’' s foundi ng.

The primary threats to that security and stability are
al so very famliar. CENTCOM was established nearly 40 years
ago to counter the malign influence of a revol utionary
regi me that had seized power in Tehran and to conpete with a

great power that had, in spite of internationa
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condemati on, invaded the sovereign state of Afghanistan and
| nposed a puppet regine.

Today Iran is no less of a threat to Anerican interests
or to the stability of the region than it was in 1979. To
the contrary, the threat posed by Iran is graver than ever.
Russi a's invasion of Ukraine, noreover, has violently
denonstrated its willful regard for international norns,
just as we have seen through Russia's actions in Syria and
el sewhere, in fact, anywhere it sees an opportunity to
di m ni sh confidence in Anerica' s |leadership. 1In a nore
nmeasured fashion, China is also vying for increased
I nfl uence, at an Anerican expense, in a region it depends
upon for over 40 percent of its fossil fuels.

Meanwhi |l e, violent extrem st organi zations, or VEGs, in
t he CENTCOM area continue to pose a credible threat to the
honmel and. In sum the Central Region remains today a vita
and volatile arena for strategic conpetition and the
deci sive theater in the canpai gn agai nst VEGCs.

The canpaign to defeat the so-called Islamc State in
Irag and Syria has entered a new phase. As of 1 January of
this year, Iraq has assumed sole responsibility for counter-
| SI'S conbat operations on its own soil. In Syria, CENTCOM
and its partners are degrading ISIS s ability to regenerate
by inproving the security of the facilitates for detained

| SIS fighters as well as the displaced person' canps, |DP

10
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canps, where their famlies reside. Mre than half of this
popul ati on conmes from other countries, and addressing the
threat of ISISin northeast Syria ultimtely will require
these countries to reclaimand repatriate whatever citizens
of theirs remain in these prisons and canps, ending one of
the world's worst humanitarian crises and depriving |ISIS of
what currently is fertile soil for indoctrination and
spreadi ng terror.

I n Af ghani stan, our canpai gn agai nst al Qaeda and I SI S-
Khorasan has al so entered a new phase. W are now
conducting this canpaign from bases over the horizon. As |
have said, this is difficult; it is not inpossible.

| should add today that we will be able to do this only
so long as CENTCOM has the requisite resources to find, fix,
and finish threats to the honel and before those threats
devel op the capability to conduct external operations. | am
tal king specifically about | SR assets and strike pl atforns.
CENTCOM has the tools it needs to performthis m ssion but
the margins are thin and risk wll increase should resources
di m ni sh.

| would like to specifically address our posture in the
M ddl e East. Here Iran continues to pose the greatest
threat to U.S. interests and the security of the region as a
whole. Wth proxies and clients, Iran has fonented conflict

in an arc tracing from Yenen through the Arabi an Peninsul a,
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across lrag and Syria into Lebanon, into the very borders of
| srael .

Saudi Arabia endures regular attacks fromthe Houthis,
who wi el d sone of the nost advanced unmanned aerial systens
and cruise mssiles in the region, courtesy of the Iranians.

Recently the Houthis expanded these attacks to include
urban centers and bases with U S. forces in the United Arab
Em r at es.

Tehran al so enables its aligned mlitias in Iraq and
Syria to carry on a persistent, |lowlevel canpaign of
indirect fire and unmanned aerial system attacks agai nst
U.S. and coalition forces, hoping to drive us fromthe
region. O late, this canpaign has been relatively
restrained, but Iran only |loosely controls the mlitias that
conduct these attacks, and as recently as 2020, Iran
denmonstrated its willingness to target U S. forces directly
with its highly capable ballistic mssile forces.

Iran's ballistic mssile forces constitute an exi gent
threat to the security of every state in the region, anong
t hem our nost inportant and enduring partners. They
continue to look to the United States for assurance that,
the historic partner of choice in the region, will remain a
reliabl e one.

China and Russia are also watching closely for any sign

that Arerica's conmtnent to the collective security of the

12
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region is wavering, and they are poised to capitalize on
what ever opportunities energe.

In closing, let me thank you again for this opportunity
to testify. | would like to thank the soldiers, sailors,
mari nes, airmen, coast guardsnen, and guardi ans who have
served and sacrificed in the CENTCOM ACR It has been the
greatest honor of ny life to serve as their commander.

Thank you.

[ The prepared statenent of CGeneral MKenzie follows:]

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
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Townsend, pl ease.
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STATEMENT OF GENERAL STEPHEN TOMNSEND, COMVANDER
UNI TED STATES AFRI CA COMVAND

Ceneral Townsend: Chairman Reed, Ranki ng Menber
| nhof e, and di sti ngui shed nenbers of the comnmttee, good
norni ng. Thank you for inviting ne to appear today, even as
the eyes of the world are focused on Russia's |awl ess attack
on Wkraine, an unjust war which inpacts Africa as well.

For nearly 3 years it has been a great privilege, the
privilege of nmy career, to represent the dedi cated nenbers
of the U S. Africa Command. Thank you for your steadfast
support for themand for our m ssion.

| am here this norning with ny battle buddy and conmand
senior enlisted | eader, Sergeant Major R chard Thresher, and
ny friend, General Frank MKenzie, as we nmake our final
appear ances before you. Qur joint testinony highlights
conti nued and pressing chall enges and opportunities faced by
our respective commands and our nati on.

Together with our interagency teammates, USAFRI COM
protects and advances U. S. strategic interests, prevents
strategic distraction, and preserves Anerica's options, all
in concert with our allies and partners.

As AFRICOM s fifth commander | have cone to learn five
truths about Africa. First, Anerica cannot ignore Africa.
Africa's chall enges, opportunities, and security interests

are inseparable fromour own. Wak or poor governance,

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
www.aldersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Trustpoint.One = Alderson.

16

conflict, and climte change stress the stability of many
African nations, which will, in turn, inpact U S. security
and prosperity.

Second, our conpetitors clearly see Africa' s rich
potential. Russia and China both seek to convert soft and
hard power investnents into political influence, strategic
access, and mlitary advantage. China's econom c and
di pl omati c engagenents allow it to buttress autocracies and
change international nornms in a patient effort to claim
their second continent. Russia stokes conflict, pursuing a
faded aspiration to inperial power. Across the continent,
nmercenaries fromthe Kremin's Wagner G oup offer a one-
stop-shop for reginme protection, resource exploitation, and
horrific violence against Africans, just as we see in
Ukr ai ne today.

Third, deadly terrorismhas netastasized to Africa. Al
Qaeda' s al Shabbab in East Africa and I1SIS and al Qaeda
groups in West Africa and el sewhere are anong the world's
fastest-grow ng, weal thiest, and deadliest terrorist groups
and remain grave and growing threats that aspire to kil
Anericans, both there and in our honel and.

Fourth, a battle between denocracy and authoritariani sm
I's raging across Africa. Despite a recent surge in
denocrati c backsliding, our values, our denobcracy, and our

willingness to work together with African partners creates a
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huge demand for U. S. engagenent and partnership.

Fifth, in Africa a few troops and a few bucks stil
goes a long way. Mbdest and predictable investnents yield
outsized returns for U S. and African security interests.

As an econony of force and posture-limted theater, AFRI COM
enpl oys just 0.3 percent of DoD operating budget and
manpower. Modest investnents today can yield a continent of
partners tonorrow.

We are nost effective when we synchroni ze di pl omacy,
devel opnent, and defense, so we are grateful for your
continued | eadership and backing to help field our whol e-of -
governnent | eaders by confirm ng anbassadors and fundi ng the
State Departnent and USAI D, thanks to the authorities and
resources you provide, and for your continued interest and
support in the capabilities that AFRICOM requires to
acconplish our mssion. |In summary, USAFRI COM renai hs cheap
I nsurance for Anerica's security.

Thank you, and | | ook forward to your questions.

[ The prepared statenent of CGeneral Townsend follows:]

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
www.aldersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Trustpoint.One = Alderson.

18

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, General Townsend.

General McKenzie, do you assess that successfully
concluding a nuclear deal with Iran wll provide additiona
stability in the region, particularly with respect to
proliferation of nuclear weapons, not just in Iran but in
ot her states, and also give to the United States and to the
West essentially alnost daily insights into the nucl ear
posture of Iran?

General McKenzie: Chairman, a primary objective of our
policy in the regionis for Iran not to possess a nucl ear
weapon, and | think the best and nost effective way to get
to that position is through a negoti ated agreenent, which |
fully support. And | think that is probably the best way to
actually get to that and be able to tal k about other Iranian
activities in the region that are equally threatening to
states that are non-nuclear in character.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much, sir.

CGeneral Townsend, what is your operational assessnent
of renoving the magjority of U S forces out of Somalia to
Kenya and Dji bouti, and what have been the inpacts on our
partners?

Ceneral Townsend: Chairman, ny view is that our
periodi c engagenent, also referred to as commuting to work,
has caused new chal | enges and risks for our troops. M

assessnent is that it is not effective, it is not efficient,
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and it puts our troops at greater risk.

Chai rman Reed: And General MKenzie, the M9 strike
on 29 August 2021, was a conplicated and difficult
situation, including civilian casualties. CENTCOM did a
report, but that report was reviewed by the Air Force
i nspector general, Ceneral Said, and he indicated that
assigning the 15-6 to the sane organi zati on that conducted
the strike and further assigning it to the individual that
conducted the civilian casualty assessnent report and did
not recomend a 15-6 was |l ess than optimal, real conflicts
of interest, or sinply perceptions of conflicts of interest
were too significant, conducting the 15-6 in 4 to 5 days as
directed was too rushed and did not allow sufficient tine to
conprehensi vely assess the facts.

Do you concur with that concl usion?

GCeneral McKenzie: Chairnman, | concur with that
concl usi on.

Chai rman Reed: And what steps are you taking to
correct the situation, in terns of standard operating
procedures for CENTCOW?

General McKenzie: Chairnman, since that time we have
enacted ten specific things that affect the way we conduct
stri ke operations, the way we have oversight of strike
operations, the way we investigate those strike operations.

Rat her than go through a list of all of them!|l will call out

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
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three, very quickly.

Chai rman Reed: Yes, sir.

Ceneral MKenzie: The first thing we have done is we
have re-invigorated and re-institutionalized the idea of a
red cell process within each strike cell. The red cel
prevents the problem of confirmation bias, which is when
operators sonetines, under the pressure of what they believe
to be, and probably is, a nortal threat seized on a course
of action and do not properly evaluate all of the
possibilities, other possibilities. That is one.

At the sane tinme, | have upped the reporting of this so
these things are brought to senior |eadership nuch nore
qui ckly, so we have an opportunity to have a good view on
what is going on inside the entire system And |
particul arly acknow edge the issues about who is
i nvestigating who. You cannot investigate yourself. Even
if you do it right there is still a perception there that we
need to take a ook at. W are taking that on directly.

So a nunber of things within Central Conmand we are
changing. | believe, in all these cases, it is the
commander at each | evel who needs to be the responsible
officer, and you have got to get your commanders directly
involved in that. And | believe we are on the path to doi ng
t hat .

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much, sir.
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CGeneral Townsend, you indicated in your testinony that
efforts in AFRICOM 1|ike every mmjor conbatant conmand, have
to be whol e-of -governnent. But Africa seens to be even a
much nore significant case, where without State Departnent
support, AID support, other departnents, that your m ssion
is not as effective. Can you elaborate a bit?

General Townsend: Thanks, Chairman. | think it is not
only not as effective, | think it is not possible for any
one arm of di pl omacy devel opnent or defense to succeed
Wi thout the other, especially in Africa. The economc
chal |l enges, the political challenges, and the security
chall enges are so great that we can only nake headway
together, and that is particularly inportant because we have
such nodest investnments there, nodest resources focused on
the continent. So, therefore, we have got to all row
t oget her.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much. GCentl enen, thank
you for not only your testinony but for your distinguished
service. Thank you.

Senator | nhofe, please.

Senator | nhofe: Thank you, M. Chairman. Ceneral
Townsend, as | said in ny opening statenent | want to talk
nore about the plight of the people of Western Sahara. Many
of my coll eagues may not be famliar with what they have

been goi ng through out there, but it is nothing short of a
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tragedy. The fate of the Sahrawi people has been in |inbo
since Western Sahara was decol oni zed and the United Nations
adopted the resolution calling for a referendumon self-
determ nation in 1966. That was 1966. Mbre than five
decades |l ater, no referendum has been held, and their
destiny has been subjected to broken prom se after broken
prom se by the Mrroccan governnent.

Sonme in the Adm nistration believe Mirocco i s now
serious about negotiating a nutually acceptable resolution
in Western Sahara after blocking it for all these years, and
| could not disagree nore. Nothing | have seen from Morocco
makes nme think that they are serious about the resol ution.
And that is why | am pleased that the Secretary has directed
you to | ook at alternative | ocations for DoD exercise in
African, like African Lion in the com ng years.

| have nore that | want to say about Western Sahara but
we are pressed for tine so |l wll submt that in witing.

[ The information follows:]

[ COMM TTEE | NSERT]
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Senator | nhofe: General Townsend, | want to turn to
Somalia. As you know, | opposed the |ast admnistration's
decision to pull nearly all of our troops out of Somalia and
nove themto Djibouti and Kenya and pursue an over-the-
hori zon counterterrorismstrategy. It increases risk. It
decreases our effectiveness. W are seeing this play out on
the ground on Somalia as things get worse and al Shabbab
gai ns strength.

General Townsend, you have called al Shabbab our
primary eneny in Somalia. Your quote was "the | argest and
nost kinetically active al Qaeda network in the world."

| have two question, CGeneral Townsend. Have you
submtted a request to your chain of command to put DoD
forces back in Somalia on a full-tine basis, and if the
answer is yes then when did you submt the request and have
you gotten any response yet fromthat request?

General Townsend: Thanks, Ranking Menber. Al the
characteri zations you just related there about Sonalia and
the threat fromal Shabbab are correct. Respectfully,
Senator, | have submtted advice to ny chain of comrand, and

my chain of command is still considering that advice, and |
would i ke to give them space to make that decision. And I
can go into it in a bit nore detail in closed session.

Senator Inhofe: Al right. Thank you very nuch.

CGeneral McKenzie, | do not really have any further

23
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guestions, but | do want to comrent that it is hard for ne
to believe that -- | can see now why we are not smling and
you are smling. Apparently it is going to be, | think, in
2 nore weeks that you will be bailing out of here, and I
wi sh you the best for your retirenent. Al right? Geat.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator |nhofe.

Senator G Ilibrand, please.

Senator G Illibrand: Thank you, M. Chairman.

CGeneral MKenzie, thank you for your testinony. How
has Israel's integration into CENTCOM s AOR i nproved
coordi nation anong U. S. regional partners, particularly as
it relates to countering Iran and the M ddl e East and
supporting over-the-horizon counterterrorism capabilities?

CGeneral MKenzie: Senator, the entry of Israel into
the AOR has given us great opportunities, particularly in
the area of integrated air and m ssile defense, which I
think is one of the nost pressing issues that all of the
states in the region confront when they think about Iran.

And so | think of Israel comng into the AOR as sort of
the operational effect of the other normalization of I|sraeli
rel ations across the Gulf and with other states. W have
great opportunities here, and | would be prepared to talk a
little bit nore about it in the closed session.

Senator Gllibrand: As a follow up, have the Abraham
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Accords, which have allowed for economic and mlitary

I ntegration between Israel and the Arab State signatories
enhanced our ability to counter China's influence in the

M ddl e East through coordi nated econom c policy or enhanced
foreign mlitary sal es?

General MKenzie: On the question of China's entry
into the theater, obviously |I only control a small part of
t he perspective on that. | would say that in terns of
foreign mlitary sales we have an opportunity here to pursue
greater integration, again, particularly in the domain of
air defense systens, which | think is lowhanging fruit.
Everyone is interested init, particularly since the keyword
"defense"” is in the design. These are not offensive
systens. These are systens designed to protect those
nations that are there.

Senator Gllibrand: And this question for Cenera
McKenzi e and General Townsend. Ceneral MKenzie, China has
extensive influence in the Mddle East and Africa, both
through its Belt and Road Initiative and through increasing
foreign arns sales. Can you comrent on China's econonic
i nfluence within your command and your concerns that our
regional partners increasingly turn to China for mlitary
assi stance?

Senat or McKenzie: Senator, | wll begin with their

econom ¢ penetration into the region. They draw a
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significant portion of their hydrocarbons fromthe region.
Alot of it goes through the Strait of Hormuz. W see, as a
result of that, they are interested in pursuing close, deep,
and econom c rel ationships with nations that adjoin the
Strait of Hornmuz the GQulf itself so that they can protect
that long-terminvestnent. | believe ultimately that wll
nove fromeconomc to a mlitary conponent. They think in
the long term but | believe that is inevitable, that we are
going to see that.

Finally, | believe that we remain a partner of choice
for mlitary systems. Qur mlitary systens are the best in
the world. You get what you pay for. You get what you pay
for if you buy a Chinese system

Senator G llibrand: Thank you. GCeneral Townsend?

General Townsend: Thanks, Senator. There is a handout
there. There should be a handout there that depicts the
gquestion you are asking, China's investnents across the
spectrumin Africa, and it is daunting. They are investing
primarily in the economc realm then foll owed by the
di plomatic realm and then, to a | esser degree, in the
mlitary domain. However, their mlitary investnments are
playing out in Africa. They have their one overseas base
there, and they are working hard to devel op ot her overseas
bases there.

And | would reiterate what General MKenzi e said about,
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we remain the partner of choice, and our equi pnent and our
training is second to none. However, it can sonetines take
along tine to unfold, and that sonetines forces our African
partners to reach for the bird -- go with the bird in hand,
which is sonmetinmes China, sonetines Russia.

Senator GIllibrand: General Townsend, how do you view
our African partners' opinion of Russia's invasion of
Ukrai ne? WII| they distance thensel ves from Russi a, based
on its unprecedented action, or how do we hold t hem
accountable if Russia is allowed to remain economcally
rel evant to those markets?

General Townsend: Senator, | think if you saw the vote
play out in the UN the other day, it sort of covers the
spectrum So about half of Africa voted to condemn Russia's
i nvasion. The other half either abstained or did not vote.
| think there was only one vote fromthe continent, Eritrea,
voted to support Russia. But it was troubling to ne that
hal f of the continent either abstained or did not vote, and
| think that is because they are trying to see howthis is
going to play out. Many of them have strong econonic ties
to Russia and China, and | think they are biding their tine.

Senator GIllibrand: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator G| |i brand.

Senat or Fi scher, pl ease.

Senator Fischer: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank
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you to both of you gentlenen for your service to the people
of this country.

During and after the retrograde, President Biden touted
over-the-horizon counterterrori smoperati ons as our new
strategy to deal with the terrorist threat in Afghanistan.
| expressed serious concerns with this approach, including
directly to you, General MKenzie, for CENTCOM during that
CENTCOM posture hearing last April, but was repeatedly told
by the Adm nistration that chall enges associated with this
strategy could be overcone.

General MKenzie, have we conducted any over-the-
horizon strikes against |ISIS-K targets in Afghani stan since
August of | ast year?

General McKenzie: Senator, we have conducted no
strikes in Afghani stan.

Senator Fischer: Wuld you agree that w thout
sustai ned CT pressure, terrorist groups are nore able to
focus on planning and preparing for external attacks?

General McKenzie: | would agree with that statenent.

Senator Fischer: Do we have any information on
terrorist planning in Afghani stan?

General McKenzie: Senator, | have considerable
information on that, and | am prepared to brief you in great
detail in the closed session that will follow

Senator Fischer: | look forward to hearing your brief
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on that.

General McKenzie, in an interviewwth the Associated
Press in Decenber you stated that we are probably at about 1
or 2 percent of the capabilities we once had to |ook into
Af ghani stan. WII you be telling us about that in
classified as well?

General McKenzie: The brief I wll give you | believe
w Il be exhaustive in all the disciplines of intelligence.
What we had, what we have now, what the difference in those
are, and you will be able to draw your own very stark and
cl ear conclusions fromthat.

Senat or Fischer: |s your conclusion about the strategy
that we have in dealing with the terrorist threat that we
are effective or not effective in sustaining that CT
pressure on the groups?

General McKenzie: It is going to take alittle tine
for that to play out. | believe that, as you noted earlier,
sustai ned CT pressure is what prevents groups from being
able to grow, to train, to think about plotting beyond their
i mredi ate survival. For exanple, up and down the Euphrates
River Valley in Iraq and Syria, ISISis unable to think
beyond surviving that night or the next night. In place
where they do not have that question of imredi ate personal
survival, then the threat begins to grow. But | would |ike

to talk about that in a closed session if | can, ma' am
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Senator Fischer: ay. |In Cctober, Under Secretary
Kahl told this commttee that we could see | SIS-K generate
the capability to conduct external operations, including
against the United States in sonmewhere between 6 and 12
nont hs, and that was 5 nonths ago. Today, in your witten
testinony, you stated that, quote, "The Departnent of
Def ense assess | SI S-K could establish an external attack
capability against the United States and to our allies in 12
to 18 nonths, but possibly sooner if the group experiences
unanti ci pated gai ns in Afghani stan,” end quote.

What has caused this intelligence estinmate to shift
from Cct ober, when Secretary Kahl nade those coments, to
what you are telling us today?

General McKenzie: Again, | wll talk alittle bit nore
about this in the closed session. But the period | gave,
which is 12 to 18 nonths for |ISIS-K represents our best
whol e-of -intelligence community thinking on this. And it
does change over tinme, as we see groups gather, as we see
groups fall apart. But | will be able to give you a | ot
nore detail on that in the cl osed session.

Senator Fischer: kay. Let ne shift gears a little
bit then with you, and we will continue the CT in cl osed
sessi on.

We | ook at Iran's proxies throughout CENTCOM AOR and

they continue to pose a significant threat to our partners
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and also to our own forces in the region. Wat nore do you
t hink can be done to deter Iran fromtheir malign
activities?

CGeneral McKenzie: W have established a very clear set
of redlines with Iran, and | think as a result of that over
the | ast several nonths their attacks have tapered off,
particularly in Irag, which | believe Iran views as the
princi pal battleground for confronting the United States,
and our partners in the region. And we have been able to do
that by increasingly effective counter-UAS and ot her systens
to defend ourselves, and at the sanme tine they are finding
It increasingly difficult to gain any kind of political
traction with the governnment of Iraq. | think for a |ong
time Iran, frankly, tried to pursue a political solution in
Irag that is not open to them anynore.

Senator Fischer: And do you believe that we have a
good working relationship with our partners in the area in
provi ding t hem defense agai nst m ssiles and drones?

General McKenzie: | believe that we do. You know, |
wor ked very hard at the mlitary, the mlitary channel, wth
ny peers, the chiefs of defense, in each of these countries.
| believe we do have a very good relationship with them

Senator Fischer: Thank you, sir. Thank you, M.
Chai r man.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Fischer.
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Senator King, please.

Senator King: Thank you, M. Chairman. First, two
observations. One is the inportant day in U S. history that
this represents -- 202 years ago the state of Mine joined
the union, and | just wanted to note that. Secondly, | am
sorry that our Ranking Menber has gone, because there is no
Senator that knows nore about African than Senator |nhofe
and has commtted nore tine and effort and di plomatic
outreach to that continent. And | just wanted to recognize
that, as this nmay be the | ast posture hearing involving
Africa that he is still a nmenber of this commttee.

A couple of questions to follow up on Senator Fischer's
questions, Ceneral MKenzie. Wat is the status of the ALCC
wi th Paki stan, and do we have any under st andi ng what soever
with regard to the ALOC for a kinetic strike as opposed to
| SR?

General McKenzie: So right now we are flying at the
ALOC to conduct our ISR For further discussions on that,
Senator, | would really prefer to go into the cl osed
session, and | will be able to answer your questions very
directly in that session.

Senator King: Gkay. Can you give us -- and | know we
are going to talk about this in closed session, but since
our | eaving of Afghanistan |ate |ast sumrer, conpare ISIS

and al Qaeda, because the Taliban is hostile to ISIS, not so
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hostile to al Qaeda. |Is Taliban naintaining pressure on
| SI S?

Ceneral MKenzie: The Taliban is attenpting to
mai ntain pressure on ISIS. They are finding it difficult to
do. 1SIS has been able to execute sone high-profile
attacks, even in Kabul, over the |last several nponths. W
are comng out of the winter. Traditionally, this would now
begin the fighting season. It is ny expectation that ISIS
attacks will ranp up in Afghanistan as we go into the
sunmer .

And you are correct. The Taliban is going to go after
| SIS. They have done so in the past. But it is going to be
tough fight. They did not help thenselves -- "they" being
the Taliban -- when they rel eased a nunber of prisoners from
Pul - e- Char khi and Parwan, over 1,000 ISIS fighters that
reverted back to the group and significantly enpowered the
group within Afghanistan. And now they are going to reap
the results of that action. So | think that is a problem
for the Tali ban.

As for al Qaeda, | think they are much less firmon the
al Qaeda issue, in terns of opposing themand being able to
limt them although they have done sone things publicly
that would tend to make you think they at | east want to send
the signals that they are doing. And | will talk alittle

bit nore about that in the cl osed sessi on.
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Senator King: Thank you. | want to return to the
chai rman's openi ng questions about lIran. A deal, by
definition, is sonething where there are things on both
si des, advantages and di sadvantage. One side gives up
sonmet hing. One side gains sonething. Let us assune for a
nonment that there is a renewed JCPOA, which significantly
limts Iran's nuclear capability for the foreseeable future,
for some period of years. At the sane tine, sanctions are
relieved in sone way that enables themto have additiona
resources, which they could put into their malign activities
in the region. Wuld you view that as a reasonabl e
tradeoff? |In other words, realizing you cannot have
everything, do you view a nuclear Iran as nore dangerous
than an Iran with nore noney in their pockets?

CGeneral McKenzie: Wll, Senator, as you know, CENTCOM
is the land of |ess-than-perfect solutions, so | am al ways
confortable with a | ess-than-perfect solution. It is an
overriding national policy objective of the United States
for Iran to not have a nucl ear weapon and be able to possess
a nuclear weapon. So | think that is a very inportant goal,
and you m ght have to nmake sone tradeoffs to get to that
poi nt .

But the mlitary level, ny concernis, first of all
that they not have that nucl ear weapon, but | am also very

concerned about the remarkable growh in nunber and
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efficiency of their ballistic mssile force, their UAV
program their |ong-range drones, and their |and attack
cruise mssile program Al of those concern ne.

Senator King: That was going to be nmy next question.
What is our current, if we can do this in an unclassified
setting, of the range of lranian mssiles? In other words,
can they get to Paris? Can they get to London? Can they
get to New York? O are they sinply a regional weapon?

General McKenzie: They have over 3,000 ballistic
m ssiles of various types, sone of which can reach Tel Aviv,
to give you an idea of range. None of them can reach Europe
yet, but over the last 5 to 7 years, Senator, they have
i nvested heavily in their ballistic mssile program Their
mssiles are significantly greater range and significantly
enhanced accuracy. W saw that in the attack on al-Asad in
January 2020, where their mssiles hit wthin tens of neters
of the targets they were intended to hit.

Senat or King: General Townsend, any buyer's renorse,
or | should say borrower's renorse in Africa with regard to
the relationship of these countries to China? Well, | think
borrower's renorse is the right phrase. Second thoughts
about these rel ationships?

Ceneral Townsend: Senator, | would say yes, we see
that across the continent. So as you are famliar, when

China started investing heavily in Africa, this term "debt
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trap dipl omacy" was born.

Senator King: | call it "debt colonialism™

Ceneral Townsend: That is another way of saying it as
well. | think our African partners, by and |large, are very
wel | aware of that, and the countries that we see stil
hewing to China are those that, well, they are not well
governed, or they are autocrats. So | think there is a
growi ng awareness of that, and we are seeing that.

Senator King: Thank you. Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator King.

Senat or Rounds, pl ease.

Senat or Rounds: Thank you, M. Chairman. GCentl enen,
first let ne begin by saying thank you to both of you for
your service to our country. Let ne also thank your
famlies for their participation as well.

GCeneral Townsend, while Russia and Chi na are
aggressi vely expanding their physical footprint in Africa, |
am concerned with their even nore aggressive and nefarious
activity in cyberspace. Can you discuss how Russia and
Chi na have used cyber to advance their objectives in your
ACR and how your teamis conbatting the threat?

General Townsend: Senator, | will be able to go into
nore detail in closed session but | can say this about
Russia. Russia, and you are famliar with the oligarch

Prigozhin, he has troll farnms. He invests in troll farnms in
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Africa, and a nunber of those were involved in el ection
I nterference globally, to include our country, and that is

continuing. W are seeing that continue. Wth China, not

as much, and | can probably go into nore detail in closed
sessi on.
Senat or Rounds: Thank you, sir. Also, | think Senator

| nhofe hit on this but | would Iike to re-enphasize the
chall enges in the Sahrawi regi on and south Sahara regions,
where you have chal l enges where literally you have got
40, 000 peopl e that have been di splaced out of their
honmel and, waiting for a UN resolution, or at |east sone sort
of an opportunity for independence, and certainly Mrocco is
right in the mddle of it. And it seens to ne that | think
what Senator Inhofe has indicated is the fear that in the
future if we are not observant to the real problens that
have devel oped there that we are going to have a hot bed
there, and it is going to be one that will not go away, and
we are going to wonder why we suddenly have extrem sts
devel oping in that region, recognizing, though, for the |ast
40 years they have been di splaced fromtheir honel and and
the rest of the world has done nothing to try to resol ve the
situation.

I know that it is an area that you are aware of. Do
you have any comments on what is going on right now in that
regi on?
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General Townsend: Senator, | think primarily this is a
di plomatic or political program less a mlitary one, but
for all the things that you just nentioned | agree with and

we are watching it.

Senator Rounds: If it is not fixed diplomatically I
fear that it will becone a problemfor the mlitary.
General McKenzie, | really think, along with a | ot of

us here, that the way that we | eft Afghani stan on a date
certain put our mlitary nen and wonen in a very precarious
position, and that it was not the correct way to | eave

Af ghani stan. W believe that it was reckl ess, haphazard,
and it endangered the lives of our service nen and wonen.
Qur deeds hel ped to reshape the current worl dw de

oper ational environnent, where our adversaries have been
enbol dened to take greater risks in challenging our national
security.

We al so broke faith with ny Afghans who directly
supported U.S. forces. These brave Afghans are eligible for
special immgrant visas, or SIVs, if they are trapped and
have been threatened in Afghanistan. The WAshi ngton Post
has reported that Qatar Airways has been chartering one to
two U. S. governnment flights from Kabul every week, from
August to Decenber. These flights briefly stopped, then
resuned after the new year began

One of the SIV applicants who ny office has assisted

38
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for the last 8 nonths just recently was able to get out of

Kabul, in fact just this week, but he was forced to take a
rat her adventurous and | ong, roundabout way through a third
country in order to get out.

Can you tell me, Ceneral, who specifically has been on
t hese weekly flights and whether they are the Afghans who
risked their lives to help our servicenenbers?

General McKenzie: Senator, our responsibility in this
matter is to support the Departnent of State by providing
lily pads at Canp As Sayliyah in Qatar. Wen people cone
out of Afghani stan, we process them and we nmake sure that
they are physically fit. W do all the things to nove them
on to their final destination. Wether that is the United
States or another country, that is the State Departnent's
call, not our call. But we are fully conmtted to assisting
in that. The sane thing in UAE, where there is a facility
that is not really run by the United States by rather by our
UAE part ners.

As to your question about who is com ng out, who is on
the flight that Qatar Airways is running every couple of
weeks, | believe they are largely SIV applicants. But,
Senator, | amactually not in mnute-to-m nute conmand of
that information. You know, that is actually run by the
Departnent of State. W support |ogistically, but those

decisions fall all within the Departnent of State.
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Il will sinply close by saying we have the capability to
support this effort with systens and procedures in pl ace
well into the future.

Senator Rounds: Thank you. And once again, thank you
to both of you for your service to our country.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Rounds.

Senat or Manchi n, pl ease.

Senator Manchin: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank
you both again for your service, and thank you for all the

hard work you are doi ng here.

| just have two questions, really, and whoever, | think
probably CGeneral MKenzie, | mght cone to you. First of
all, the Afghanistan situation. | was reading this norning

an article that said basically the road from Kabul to
Kandahar is now safe. Commerce is comng back a little bit
and you are seeing different roadside things going on, and
this and that. And basically for the peace in the country,
do you see that basically to where people are enbracing that
and believe they have the ability to build any type of an
econony what soever, or w thout our assistance? Because |
read of the famne and | read of all the different hardships
that are going on there also. The only econony they had was
ours. That is gone.

General MKenzi e: | do not believe it is a

40
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particularly safe place to be. | think you can probably
drive on what we would call the Ring Road --

Senat or Manchin: Yeah.

General McKenzie: -- from Kabul down to Kandahar in a
way that you could not do it in the past. But at the sane
time we know that the Taliban is actually carrying out, you
know, searches for former Afghan governnent officials. W
know t hat wonen are entering a new and repressive exi stence
under their rule. So while you may not see the kind of
vi ol ence that you saw over the last 10 or 15 years there, |
amnot sure it is a place where anyone would want to be, and
| believe the continued press of people that want to | eave
Af ghani stan i s perhaps the best indicator of just what
conditions are |like on the ground.

Senator Manchin: Us |eaving Afghani stan the way we
did, does it leave us in worse shape as far as our allies?

CGCeneral McKenzie: | think it is too soon to tell, but
| think our principal goal in Afghanistan was and remains to
ensure that attacks against the United States are not going
to be generated fromthere, fromal Qaeda and froml| Sl S-K

Senator Manchin: And right now you believe that we

have subdued that from happening, or are they buil ding back

up again?
General McKenzie: Sir, | believe it is nmuch harder to
do it nowthan it was before. It is not inpossible to do
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it. But | will have a considerable |evel of detail on that
In the cl osed session.

Senator Manchin: Putin's war on Ukraine with the
energy, that is an energy war, Putin's war on Ukrai ne and
what we are going through there and al so seeing us now, |
have a little bit of a concern with the Adm nistration's
position on the energy we produce in our country and we
could do a little bit nore, working wth our Canadi an and
our Mexican allies. Wth that being said, the Iran
situation that we are talking, | think things have stalled
there on the Iran deal again, but also | am concerned about
Iran. The last deal that we made wth Iran was not nmade on
basically earning your way back into a productive society,
fromthe standpoint we were giving themtoo many reliefs on
their sanctions up front and they never did cone through.

Wth the Iran situation right now and the oil that we
have and the sanctions to be renoved to get Iran back into
the oil business, or bigger, and also in Venezuel a, what
effect do you think that woul d have on the Iranian
governnent, for themto have that flow of cash agai n?

CGeneral MKenzie: Senator, | am probably not the best
W tness to answer that part of the question. | can tell
you, froma mlitary stability perspective, which I am
confident to talk about, ny principal interest inlranis

ensuring that they do not attack us or our partners in the
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region, directly or indirectly, to keep Iran deterred from
undert aki ng those kinds of activities. W have had sone
success doing that over the |ast couple of years -- not
conpl et e success.

Senat or Manchin: But there are still, | nean,
i ndications they are still basically one of the |argest
proliferators of terrorist attacks in that part of the
world. Correct?

CGeneral McKenzie: That is absolutely correct, Senator.

Senator Manchin: And basically with Yenen and all that
they are still very nuch involved there, supplying them

General McKenzie: Iran is the principal region that
the conflict in Yenen cannot be brought to a conclusion, in
ny judgnent.

Senator Manchin: General Townsend, given the situation
we have in Africa right now, what are your thoughts about
t hat ?

General Townsend: Senator, | did not catch the mddle
part.

Senator Manchin: Basically the situation that we have
in Africa right now, what are your concerns that you have,
t he nost concerns that you do have?

General Townsend: Thank you. Thanks for repeating the
guestion. Well, | think probably nunber one is ensuring

that the U S. nmintains strategic access and influence, and
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| think, for nme, the primary concerns there are China, and
toalittle bit Iesser degree, Russia. | can go nore into
detail on that in closed session, but I am concerned about
China's basing anbitions in Africa. And then the second
thing woul d be countering threats of violent extrem sts
there, primarily al Qaeda's arm al Shabbab, in East Africa.

Senat or Manchin: Okay. |If | can have one further
question, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Go ahead.

Senator Manchin: My further question would be this.
You know, | renenber back that -- | was a young person back
in the Cuban Mssile Crisis and the concerns we had with
nucl ear attacks and things, all the tests we ran and
everything, we were prepared for, and all the things we had
to go through, the exercises. Today we have so nany
countries with a nuclear arsenal. Wat is the nost
dangerous you think that we have, the country that you are
nost concerned about with nuclear capabilities, that could

do harm not just basically upend the world, approach on the

world order, if you will, but basically do danage to the
homel and?
CGeneral Townsend: Senator, for me, | think | subscribe

to what is laid out in our National Defense Strategy, which
is China is the longer-termthreat, the pacing threat, but

today it is Russia.
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General McKenzie: Senator, | think you have to respect
capability. Russia has that capability. China aspires,
perhaps, in the future, to have that capability. But |
think the acute threat right now, of course, is Russia, and
| agree with General Townsend.

Senat or Manchin: Thank you.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Mnchin.

Senat or Ernst, please.

Senator Ernst: Thank you, M. Chair, and gentl enen,

t hank you very much for being here today and to your conmand
teans as well. And General MKenzie, thank you so nuch for
your conmm tnent and your service during a very difficult
time during that transition in the Mddle East. W truly
appreciate it. W are grateful.

General MKenzie, 2 weeks before the final w thdrawal
from Af ghani stan the on-the-ground commander of U.S. forces
I n Afghani stan at that tinme stated, in what are now open-
source docunents, that the U S. forces had targeted and
killed over 100 Tal i ban nmenbers who were noving on the city
of Kabul on August 14th. |Is that correct?

GCeneral McKenzie: Senator, | believe that is correct.

Senator Ernst: Ckay. So we know at that tine the
situation was very tenuous. The Taliban was on the nove.
And an official DoD after-action report had clarified that

t he President and ot her senior DoD officials' statenents,
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some of which were under oath, and that both on-the-ground
commanders and the intelligence community assessed that the
gover nnent of Afghanistan's capacity to defend the country
from being overrun by the Taliban was for 6 to 12 nonths
following the U S. withdrawal, and those statenents were
unequi vocal Iy fal se.

Were the assessnents of Rear Admral Peter Vasely and
General Scott MIler, who were the |ast two conmanders of
the U S. forces in Afghani stan, and yourself, were they
passed on to the Ofice of the Secretary of Defense?
Because | think there was a different assessnent that cane
fromyou and the on-the-ground commanders. Wre those
assessnents passed on to the Ofice of Secretary of Defense?
Were they passed on to the State Departnent? Were the
passed on to the National Security Council?

General McKenzie: Senator, | am confident that ny
assessnents, the assessnents of General MIller, as well as
subor di nat e conmmanders, which infornmed ny assessnent, all
those were passed to the Secretary, and, in fact, to the
hi ghest | evels of governnment. And | was present at sone of
t hose nmeetings where those recommendati ons were di scussed.

Senator Ernst: Wre those assessnents given to the
Presi dent ?

General McKenzie: | believe that at the very hi ghest

| evel , everyone saw and knew t hese assessnents.
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Senator Ernst: GCkay. Wre you ever involved in a
di scussion with the President when dissention was voi ced?

General McKenzie: Senator, | will not be able to
comrent on any discussions | had with the President. But |
can tell you this. M position, which |I have expressed
before, in front of this commttee, was that in the fall of
2020, it was a probably a m stake to go below the | evel of
4,500, and in the spring of 2021, it was a m stake to go
bel ow the | evel of 2,500. If, in fact, we did so, we
expected the governnent of Afghanistan to collapse. That
refl ected ny opinion and al so the opinion of General Mller.

We had an opportunity to freely express that opinion,
and | amconfident | was heard, and that is really all a
mlitary commander can ever hope to have the opportunity to
do. Those decisions, to stay or go, and what force | evel
you are going to put in Afghanistan are not inherently
mlitary decisions. Those are decisions nmade at the hi ghest
| evel of the United States.

And so | appreciated the opportunity to be a part of
t hat di scussi on.

Senator Ernst: No, and | appreciate your clarity as
wel |, General MKenzie. Thank you so nuch. And as well,
now t hat we are out of Afghanistan we do see that China and
Russi a are becom ng nore active in Afghanistan, and they are

seeking to capitalize on the void that has been left in that
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ar ea.

What are sone of the tools and capabilities that wll
be required by the United States to really deter our
adversaries that are in Afghanistan right now?

General McKenzie: | think primarily it is how you work
wi th the governnent of Afghanistan, such as it is, you know,
as we have not formally recognized the Taliban as the formal
governnent. But there are |evers that we can apply agai nst
that entity -- economc levers, diplomatic |evers. They
seek diplomatic recognition, principally fromthe United
States but also fromother nations as well.

And so there are things that we can -- | believe, and
It is not a mlitary question, really -- there are things
that we can do to shape their behavior, and | believe our
di pl omats are working very hard to that end right now

Senator Ernst: Very good. Whol e-of-governnment. And
General Townsend, just very briefly, do we see a | ot of
Russian activity in Africa and the use of contractors,
mlitary contractors, other types of contractors, and what
are those contractors, and give us your assessment of
whet her that nmakes our job nmore difficult in Africa.

General Townsend: Thanks, Senator. W do see a |ot of
Russian activity. It is alnost all in the formof these
private mlitary contractors that you are referring to,

nanmely the Wagner Group and sonme other smaller ones. They
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are a malign influence. They do not follow anybody's rules.
They do what they want. They buttress dictators. They do
gross violations of human rights. | think it is bad for
Africa' s security and prosperity in the future.

Senator Ernst: Thank you very much, gentlenen. Again,
t hanks so nmuch for your service. W truly do appreciate it.
Thank you. Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Ernst.

Senat or Kai ne, pl ease.

Senator Kaine: Thank you M. Chair and the commttee
menbers, and to Generals McKenzie and Townsend, thank you
for your service and for your frequent and al ways
i1 lum nati ng appearances before the commttee.

CGeneral Townsend, | want to talk to you about a
situation that is not getting a lot of attention in the

nmedi a these days, and that is the humanitarian crisis and

war crinmes being conmmtted by many sides in Ethiopia and the

Tigray region. The ongoing battle, 20 nonths now, between
the Ethiopian mlitary and the Tigray region forces has
created a huge humanitarian crisis, war crinmes, fam ne.

You know, it is inportant that we focus as nuch energy
as we are focusing on the situation in Ukraine right now,
but one of the things that | grieve a little bit is when we
focus on one part of the world atrocities and other parts of

the world sort of go below the radar screen. And so whet her
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it in Ethiopia Tigray or whether it is persecution of the
Rohi ngyas in Burma, or whether it is the ongoing

humani tarian crisis in Yenen, sone of these crises grab the
world's attention, grab Anerica's attention, and sone of

t hese crises do not.

And there are many, nmany reasons for that. | am not
going to speculate on themnow. But in a situation |ike the
ongoing atrocities in Ethiopia, which are internal civil
strife although there are presence of foreign actors
inciting that strife, or supporting signs in that strife,
what can AFRI COM do, what can the United States do to try to
advance a better chapter for people of Ethiopia?

CGeneral Townsend: Thanks, Senator. As you stated,
that civil war erupted in late 2020, and so civil war has
pl ayed out for over a year there, on top of a humanitarian
crisis there, famne, et cetera. And it started cul m nating
there at the end of |last year, it |ooked like the capital,
Addis, may fall. The Ethiopian governnent rallied and they
pushed the Trigrayans back into Tigray, and today it is sort
of quiet. But we think we are nmaybe in a period in between
conflict erupting again. | hope that is not the case.

| know that there is a |lot of diplomacy going on.

There is a U S. special envoy, there is a UN special envoy,
to work this. | think both sides right now are trying to

reset thensel ves and gather strength. And this diplonacy
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i ncludes our efforts as well. W have been involved in
supporting State Departnent diplomatic efforts in the
region. R ght now, for AFRICOM we are watchi ng and
assisting, buttressing the State Departnent.

Senator Kaine: | appreciate that, and I just want to
again underline this point. Wen there are crises and
chall enges in the world people turn to the United States for
hel p. You know, it is interesting that, again, and it is
worthy and i nportant that we be paying the attention we are
paying to the Russian illegal war against Ukraine, and yet
in Ethiopia there are war crinmes occurring, there is
genoci dal activity occurring. |t nmay not be an invasion of
sovereignty by a nei ghbor there are nei ghbors and ot her
nations that are inciting violence and supporting viol ence.
And, you know, | hope that we nay all strive to be even-
handed in the attention that we pay to humanitarian crises
all over the world.

Wth that, M. Chair, | yield back.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator Kai ne.

Let me now recogni ze Senator Tuberville, please.

Senator Tuberville: Well thank you very much, M.

Chai rman. Thank you guys for your service. | know you are
| ooki ng forward to doing sonething el se possible for the
next few years.

CGeneral Townsend, as you have nentioned in your
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testi nmony, Russia has continued to encourage chaos in the
AFRI COM ACR vi a the Wagner G oup. Wat has been done to
counter their efforts and what do you think need to continue
to be done?

General Townsend: So the Russian efforts, as |
menti oned earlier, are predoni nantly done through these
private mlitary conpanies |ike Wagner, and they are present
in Libya, in nunber, to a | esser extent in Sudan, they
essential run the Central African Republic, and they are now
in Mali, and gathering strength in Mali, over 1,000 WAagner
operators there now.

What we have been doing is shining a spotlight on that
with information operations and sone public diplomacy and
advi sing our African partners to try to steer clear of these
groups. | think that they are not going to help, our
African partners, and | think that the governnent and the
people of Mali are going to regret inviting Wagner into
their country.

Senat or Tuberville: As we speak we have one mlitary
base in Africa. |In your opinion, do we need two?

General Townsend: In ny view |l do not believe we do
need any other permanent U. S. installations. Qur presence
and our activities there is not dependent on pernmanent bases
in Africa.

Senator Tuberville: GCkay. Thank you.
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General MKenzie, recently we have seen several
attenpts to bl ock weapons sales to Saudis and UAE and Egypt.
Those attenpts, we all know, could severely weaken our
I nfluence in CENTCOM ACR. Even Presi dent Biden recogni zes
that, and has changed his mnd on sone of these in the |ast
year.

What have the Saudis and the Emratis and the Egyptians
specifically requested that we have not given thenf

General McKenzie: Senator, let nme just begin by saying
we remain the partner of choice for all these countries --
Egypt, Saudi Arabia, UAE. They value their relationship
wth us. They find it frustrating that, in the case of UAE,
t hey have expressed an interest in the F-35, the fifth-
generation fighter, and we are in a process with themright
now to see how that is going to work out. That is one
exanpl e.

Saudi Arabia is also interested in advanced aircraft,
advanced air defense systens, which, generally speaking, we
have been able to give Saudi Arabia. In the case of Egypt,
| think we have good news in that we are going to provide
themw th F-15s, which was a long, hard slog. They felt it
was too long, that it took too long. And, Senator, that is
the basic criticismof our ability to provide weapons to our
friends and partners. |t takes too long to actually get

t hem It noves in fits and starts.
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And, of course, with our weapons cone our val ues,
Senator. And so they are not going to be able to do
anything they want with those weapons. They are going to
have to be applied in a manner consistent with the | aw of
armed conflict and the law of war. You do not have that
caveat if you buy a Russian or Chinese system On the other
hand, the Russian and the Chinese system cannot conplete
wth the ability of an American system

Senat or Tuberville: Thank you. GCeneral Townsend, in
2021, China unveiled its plan to conpl ete several thorium
power ed nucl ear reactors in Africa. Thorium unlike
urani um cannot be used for nucl ear weapons but can provide
cheap, clean energy that China can export and inpose on | ow
I ncome countries. The nbst concerning part to ne is we
realized this years ago but our Departnent of Energy gave
this technol ogy to China.

As you nentioned in your opening statenent, there are
many reasons and resources within your ACR that are tied to
the U S transition to clean energy. |[|f China integrates
t hori um nucl ear reactors to the Belt and Road Initiative
woul d that pose a threat to the United States?

Ceneral Townsend: Senator, | do not know enough about
t he Chi nese nucl ear reactor programto say that it proposes
a threat to the United States. However, | know that Africa

is a source of vast deposits of strategic mnerals that
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America and the world needs for our technology in the 21st
century, and China is working hard to corner the market on
t hose resources. | amnore worried about that, | think,

t han Chi nese nucl ear energy projects in Africa.

Senator Tuberville: Again, thank you both of you for
your servi ce.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senat or
Tubervil | e.

Let ne now recogni ze Senator Warren, please.

Senator Warren: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank you
to both of our witnesses for being here today and for your
many years of service to our nation.

The RAND Cor poration, a nonpartisan research
organi zation that studies national security issues, recently
publ i shed a report that found a nunber of pitfalls in the

way that our mlitary prevents, investigates, and responds

to reports of civilian harm including -- and | want to read
fromthe report -- "DoD is not adequately organi zed,
trained, or equipped to fulfill its current responsibilities

for addressing civilian harm" end quote.

Now | think that is a pretty daming finding,
particularly as this is far froma new issue for the United
States. | know that Secretary Austin has asked DoD to
devel op an action plan, and | agree with himthat protection

of civilians is both a strategic and a noral inperative.
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So | want to | earn nore about your work to prevent
civilian harmin your respective commands. General
Townsend, if | can | wll start with you on this. AFR COM
provides a quarterly report updating the public on the
status of all reports of civilian casualties, and it issued
one just late | ast week. Wat benefit do you see in regqular

reporting of civilian casualties to the public?

General Townsend: Senator, | believe that being
transparent is probably -- you know, it shows the difference
bet ween us and, well, for exanple, the Russians in Ukraine

right now So | believe that publishing those reports
publicly and regularly, on a routine basis, is our best tool
for gaining the trust of the Anmerican public.

Senator Warren: And | agree with you, and | comrend
you for doing this. You know, that kind of regular
transparency shows that the conmand is prioritizing and
I nvestigating clains of civilian harm and | would like to
see that kind of regular reporting fromall of the conbatant
commander s.

So, Ceneral, let nme ask you anot her question about
this. Wuld you agree that there are several reputable,
trusted NGOs and i ndependent observers in civil society that
produce reliable reporting on civilian harnf

General Townsend: | think | woul d.

Senator Warren: (Good. Has AFRI COM undert aken a for mal
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process to incorporate feedback fromthese groups to inprove
how it tracks and responds to civilian harn?

General Townsend: Yes, Senator. W take their
feedback with every report they nake.

Senator Warren: Well, that is inportant, but let ne
ask you. Do you have a formal process for doing this or do
you just kind of integrate it as you go al ong?

Ceneral Townsend: W have a portal that anyone that
has access to the internet can report civilian casualties or
t ake exception to our eval uation of those.

Senator Warren: Good. | amglad to hear this. You
know, these groups can provide essential information, not
only to accurately identify where you need to investigate
clainms of civilian harmbut also to help prevent the killing
of civilians in future strikes. RAND s report recomended
t hat DoD engage with outside groups nore, and | amglad to
see you doing this.

CGeneral McKenzie, if | can let ne talk with you a
m nute here. The vast mgjority of the civilian casualties
caused by the U.S. mlitary operations have occurred in
CENTCOM s AOR. Not only that but reporting fromthe New
York Tinmes found major instances of civilian harmin Syria
t hat had been covered up. Does CENTCOM have an establ i shed
process for incorporating feedback fromtrusted civil

society groups to inprove the ways that it prevents and
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responds to instances of civilian harnf

General McKenzie: Senator, we did, and it was not as
robust, as straightforward a programas it shoul d have been,
In the wake of the RAND report and other reports. But we
have taken ten discrete actions that are designed all to
nore formalize and provi de additional oversight on the
possibility of civilian casualties.

Senator Warren: Good. | amvery glad to hear that,
General, because given their expertise | think we have a | ot
to learn fromthese groups, and it can hel p inprove
processes. It is long past tinme that the United States took
seriously the inpact of the way that hit treats civilian
harm and | amglad that Secretary Austin is addressing
this. But neaningful change is going to take buy-in from
the two of you, fromyour successors, and fromthe rest of
t he DoD | eader shi p.

I amworking on legislation to address these probl ens,
but in the neantine | will be paying close attention to the
Departnent's action plan and to your work inplenenting it,
in the hopes that some of the principles that we have tal ked
about today will be inplenented soon.

So thank you very much. Thank you for your work on
this.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Warren.
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Senator Tillis, please.

Senator Tillis: Thank you, M. Chairman. GCentl enen,
t hank you for being here.

General Townsend, the prior adm nistration reduced
nearly all of the 700 troops that we had in Sonmalia. Now
you are conmuting fromDjibouti and Kenya for
counterterrorismover-the-horizon operations. How is that
wor ki ng now and what are we going to do to increase
ef fecti veness and reduce risk?

CGeneral Townsend: Senator, in my view we are marching

in place, at best. W nay be backsliding in the security in

Somalia, the security situation, and that is for a nunber of
reasons, not just our commuting to work. But it is also
political dysfunction in Mdgadishu, and it is also

i nactivity by the AM SOM partners. Those al so factor in.

| just think that what we are doing is not providing
sufficient pressure, and the best we can do is maintain a
secure area around the bases that we return to, and we
real ly cannot get at the al Shabbab probl em set.

Senator Tillis: GCeneral MKenzie, you have had a
simlar challenge with the withdrawal from Afghanistan, and
we have not seen any strikes since our withdrawal |ast year.
| suspect sone of that is information gathering, a |ot of
| ogi stical challenges. But what are we doing there to

overcone the massive reduction in our CT efforts in
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Af ghani stan, and if you could, give ne an update on how I SIS
and al Qaeda are doing rebuilding their efforts in
Af ghani st an.

General McKenzie: Senator, let nme preface what | am
going to say by saying in the closed session that wll
follow | am prepared to provide an exhaustive | aydown of

exactly what we are doing in Afghanistan, at a very granul ar

| evel of detail. So | am prepared to do that.
Senator Tillis: Geat.
CGeneral McKenzie: | would tell you we have not

undertaken any strikes in Afghani stan since the 1st of
Septenber. We continue to watch carefully as ISI'S grows.
They have gone through the winter. They have been able to
carry out sone high-profile attacks. They still aspire to
attack the United States and our partners abroad. And so we
are going to watch very carefully what the Taliban is able
to do and not able to do in ternms of controlling ISIS,
because as we all know, Taliban actually wll fight ISIS.
They have a theol ogical dispute so they are in opposition.

Al Qaeda is a little nore difficult to understand
because of their cultural interweaving with the Taliban.
They still have an aspirational desire to attack us. It
wll be harder for the Taliban, |I predict, to ultimately
control their actions.

Senator Tillis: Wth Hagganis in the Taliban
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governnent, how well are they doing countering the al Qaeda
t hreat in Afghanistan?

Ceneral MKenzie: | think they have done sone things
that are very public in order to limt them | think it
remains to be seen if this is actually going to be
translated into action.

Senator Tillis: Yeah. | doubt that it wll.

Ceneral Townsend, when you | ook at these nmaps that you
have about the footprint in your area of responsibility for
Russia and China, are we kind of -- you used the words
“marching in place”" with respect to the CT threat? And in
answer to the prior question, are we nore or |ess marching
in place or are we gaining any ground, particularly over
China's, what | see as a nassive investnent and increasing
footprint in Africa?

General Townsend: Senator, you are right. You just
said China's nmassive investnent. W do not have to conpete
wi th China everywhere. W have to be selective about where
we conpete with China, and | think we are being successf ul

in that targeted conpetition.

Senator Tillis: On the PMCs that Russia has, the 4, 000

or 5,000, you nentioned that a part of what you are doing is

exposing their activities, their malign activities in the
area. Gve ne an exanple of one or two that are publicly

known that the Anerican people should be aware of that
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Russia's malign, savage influence not only in Ukraine but
down in Africa

General Townsend: | think sone great exanples were in
spring of 2020, when Russia provided fighters to their
nmercenaries in Libya, and we were able to conduct an aeri al
phot ogr aphy anbush and expose to the world the provision of
those fighters going to Libya, that wound up in the hands of
Wagner .

| think probably the best one, though, to get at the
heart of the matter you are tal king about there, is as the
fighting ended, as the civil war ended in Libya, Wagner
began a withdrawal fromalong the |ine of contact there, and
they left behind anti-tank m nes, anti-personnel mnes, and
booby traps, IEDs, in their wake. And one of the nost
hei nous ones was found in a teddy bear when they w t hdrew.

Senator Tillis: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you very much, Senator Tillis.

Senator Kelly, please.

Senator Kelly: Thank you, M. Chairman, and Gener al
McKenzi e, General Townsend, thank you for being here.
General MKenzie, congratul ati ons on your upcom ng

retirement on the 1st of April.

CGeneral Townsend, | want to follow up a question that
Senators Tillis and Tuberville asked specifically about the
Wagner Group. | know that you share this commttee's
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concern about the Russian illegal invasion of Ukraine, and
our allies have conme together to cut off Putin's support
around the world and the influence that he has. And | am
really gl ad we have taken these strong nmeasures necessary,
and we need to do nore. But we also need to continue to
noni t or Russi an-backed activity around the world, so
specifically with regard to the Wagner Group in Africa, |
find this increasing presence disturbing, and affects our
strategic goals in the area.

So, Ceneral, specifically, how do you see the Wagner
Goup's activity inpacting our efforts to, one, suppress
viol ent extrem st groups, and two, support a transition to
denocrati c governance in the region?

General Townsend: Well thanks, Senator. | think in a

nunber of ways. First, for exanple, overflight perm ssions.

So with a continent as vast as Africa we absol utely depend
on air novenent for everything. And when you see Wagner
nove in they inpose overflight restrictions, either through
t he governnment w thdraw ng perm ssions for overflight, or,
in the case of Libya, Wagner inporting sophisticated
advanced surface-to-air nmssile systens to protect their
activities there, but also deny the airspace. W can see
sone of this playing out in Mali, as Wagner first started
arriving there, and now overflight perm ssions are becom ng

nore chal |l engi ng t hen.
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Then, secondly, usurping partnerships. So as we have
seen--and it happened just nowin Mali -- the Mlian
governnent has asked the French forces to depart and instead

have invited in this Russian PMC. And | think that is

disturbing. It is inpacting our partnership with that sane
governnent as well, and I think it is not good for Mali's
future.

Senator Kelly: And what do you think the strategic
goal s that they m ght be advancing for Russian | eadership
woul d be? What is the overall goal here?

General Townsend: So for Wagner, they are guns for
hire. They are a for-profit organization. And they are
going to be extracting natural resources of Africa. W see
this in all the countries that they are |ocated in, whether
it is oil, gas, gold, dianonds, strategic mnerals. That is
what they are going to be going after, and that is how t hey
are probably going to earn their remttance.

But what they are doing for the Krenmin, though, is
t hey are usurping those partnerships. They are displacing
Western influence, |ike France, for exanple, in Mali. And I
think they are trying to block us out, and Wagner is trying
to make a profit while they do it.

Senator Kelly: And it sounds |like they are being
somewhat successful. So what do we need to be doing? What

ki nd of changes do we need to make, either alone or with our
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partners, to counter this expandi ng Russian influence in the
regi on?

Ceneral Townsend: Senator, despite their recent gains

or success in Mali -- and | think that remains to be seen
whet her they will be successful there or not. | predict
they will not be successful in the long run. An exanpl e,

t hough, is in Libya, where they have worn out their wel cone
there, and the even the Libyans who the Russi ans supported
in the civil war now want themto depart. So actually I
think that they are probably their own worst eneny.

Senator Kelly: So the Libyan people are now agai nst
this, I do not want to call it an occupation, but this force
bei ng there and anongst the community. It seens that in
Mali they do have support, general support fromthe public.
Do you see that turning at sone point?

General Townsend: | do, and they are in the very early
stages. They have only been arriving in the |ast couple of
nont hs, and they are preparing to get under operations. So
| think they will wear out their welcone. | do believe
t hat .

Senator Kelly: Thank you, Ceneral. Thank you, M.
Chai r man.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Kelly.

Senat or Cotton, please.

Senator Cotton: | want to return to what Senator Kelly
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and earlier Senator Rounds were speaki ng about, the Wagner
G oup. GCeneral MKenzie, the Wagner Goup is a Russian
param |l itary organi zation run by Yevgeny Prigozhin, a close
ally of Mladimr Putin?

General McKenzie: Sir, | believe it is, Senator.

Senator Cotton: And | know that they are active in
Africa. There have al so been reports that they have
recently been deployed into Ukraine as well.

Il will give this to either one of you. The Wagner
Goup, is it fair to characterize it as essentially an arm
of the Russian state?

General Townsend: That is ny view of it.

Senator Cotton: Yeah, that is ny viewof it too, nuch
nore so than, say, any Anmerican security conpany woul d be
linked to the United States governnent. Correct, Ceneral
Townsend?

General Townsend: | would agree with that.

Senator Cotton: Ceneral MKenzie, this was a year
before your tinme but | bet you renmenber it, sonething called
the Battle of Khashamin Syria. Do you want to tell us a
little bit about what happened in Syria in early 2018?

General McKenzie: | believe it was in February of that
year. A large group of WAagner-centered fighters tried to
cross the Euphrates River down around Deir ez-Zor. W

brought them under fire and killed several hundred of them
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It was a direct attack on us. And | think we defeated them
in a pretty shocki ng manner that was w dely reported.

Senator Cotton: Do you renenber the nunerical
superiority that these Wagner nercenari es had against U S.
forces?

General McKenzie: It was probably 10 to 1.

Senator Cotton: Ten to one, they outnunbered U S.

f orces.

General McKenzie: Probably.

Senator Cotton: | believed at the tine, and probably
still do, we had a deconfliction hotline set up with Russian
commanders in the region. Right?

General McKenzie: That is correct, Senator.

Senator Cotton: And Secretary Mattis, at the tine,
testified that we used that deconfliction hotline to ensure,

Wi th Russian counterparts, that these were not Russian

soldiers. Is that right?
General McKenzie: Sir, | believe that is correct.
Senator Cotton: | think his exact testinony here was

t hat once we confirned that "Once we confirned that Russia
did not claimthese soldiers as their own | ordered that
t hey be destroyed, and they were destroyed."”

General McKenzie: Sir, that is correct.

Senator Cotton: \What do you think that tells us about

the quality of Wagner's nercenaries, whether they are in
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Syria, Africa, or now in Ukraine?

General McKenzie: Well, | think it tells you that any
nmercenary force is going to have a qualitative di sadvant age.
It also tells you a | ot about our capabilities, Senator.

Senator Cotton: Yeah. And also if they are fighting
agai nst an extrenely determ ned people that are digging in
their heels wthin their honeland, |ike the Ukrainian arny,
t hat maybe we should not think that they, or even Russian
regulars are ten feet tall.

CGeneral McKenzie: Sir, | could not agree nore.

Senator Cotton: General Townsend, | want to return to
sonet hing that you nentioned to Senator Tuberville, that
Africa has vast strategic mnerals, which is correct. It is
al so the case that they are not exclusive to Africa. You
can find these mnerals in a |ot of places around the world.
It is just that we have largely declined to m ne them around
the world, and now it is predomnantly mned in Africa. |Is
that right?

General Townsend: That is right, Senator.

Senator Cotton: Senator Kelly and | have introduced
sonmet hing call ed the REEShore Act, with bills to shore up
donestic and defense supply chains for these critica
mnerals. Do you think that China is targeting these
mnerals inits Belt and Road Initiative in Africa?

General Townsend: | do. There are sone mnerals, and
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| did not provide the chart now but | can have it in closed
session. There are sone mnerals that are if not unique to
Africa, they are predomnantly found there, and all of our
countries, to include us, rely on those inports. And |
believe China is maneuvering to secure those.

Senator Cotton: Probably a bad idea to nmake oursel ves
dependent on China, ourselves being the civilized world,
dependent on China mning these mnerals in Africa, wouldn't
you say?

General Townsend: | woul d agree.

Senator Cotton: Ckay. General MKenzie, | want to
turn to a topic that Senator Reed and Senator King addressed
as well, about a nuclear deal with Iran. They both asked
you kind of in the abstract if it is better to have a
nucl ear deal with Iran that prevents themfromgetting a
nucl ear weapon, irrespective of their aggression in the
region. In the abstract | would agree with that, and I
think you did as well. But the deal actually needs to stop
themfromgetting a nucl ear weapon or becomng a threshold
state to achieve that goal, right?

General McKenzie: Senator, | would agree. Yes, sir.

Senator Cotton: And | would say that just l|ike the
2015 deal did not achieve that objective, certainly the
medi a reports about the directions of the current

negoti ati ons woul d not achi eve that objective either.

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
www.aldersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Trustpoint.One = Alderson.

70

What ki nd of nmessage are we sending to both Iran and
Russia, who is acting as Iran's |lawer in these
negotiations, and to allies like the United Arab Em rates,
and Saudi Arabia, when Iran is, itself, shooting ballistic
mssile as they did over the weekend, or supplying, as you
said, their proxies in Yemen with the missiles and drones to
shoot into downtown Dubai or downtown Abu Dhabi or into the
Al Dhafra Base, where we have soldiers? Wat kind of
nmessage does that send to Iran and Russia, on the one hand,
and our allies?

General MKenzie: Senator, mnmy share of the task is to
deter Iran froml arge-scale attacks, and we have had sone
success doing that. Qur success has not been perfect. But
Iran has | argely been deterred fromlaunching direct attacks
on us over the past couple of years. | would not speak for
the future, and I would agree that they are actively
fonmenting malign activities across the region. Their intent
is to do it at a |l ow enough level that it will not, in their
view at |east, disrupt the negotiating process. Again, it
is ny judgnent that is a dangerous position for themto
have.

Senator Cotton: Well that would be the intent,
usual Iy, of weaker revisionist powers throughout history, to
al ways operate right below the |level of retaliation and to,

therefore, gradually accunul ate nore strategi c advant age.
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Ri ght ?

Ceneral MKenzie: Sir, it is an asymetric approach
that is founded in history, as you noted.

Senator Cotton: Al right. Thank you.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Cotton.

Senator Craner, please.

Senator Craner: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank you
both for being here and for your service.

Il want to drill down a little bit on where we just
wr apped up, General MKenzie, with Senator Cotton, as he ran
out of tinme. | guess for ne there are a couple of things.
And, by the way, your characterization of CENTCOM as the
| and of inperfect solutions describes the United States
Senate as well, and we do better to realize that sonetines
as a body.

But anyway, that said, there are a couple of things
specific to, | think, where Senator Cotton was goi ng and
where you were going. One are the tinelines thensel ves.

The sunsets create alnost an inplication of license to
accunul ate the very thing we are trying to prevent themfrom
getting. There is that, and then there is just now to

conpel conpliance. And maybe you could elaborate a little
bit for ne a better understanding of the relief of

sanctions, again, getting back to Senator King asked the

rel evant question, in the give and take. So the sanctions
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relief that provides noney and then the tinme that the
sunsets provide, are we balancing that right? Mybe that is
the way to ask the question.

General McKenzie: | would defer to the Departnent of
State and to our negotiators for the details on that. But |
would tell you, just fromwhere | sit, ny guidance is
clearly we do not want Iran to possess a nucl ear weapon.

And so the best way to get to that solution is for themto
agree not to pursue it. They may be closer than we |ike
when we reach that |evel of agreenent. W do not know.
That is a matter for the diplonmats, not for ne.

Senator Craner: Let nme ask this then. |In your
opi nion, do you think that the I RGC bel ongs on the foreign
terrorist organization list, and should that be under
consideration in this negotiation?

General McKenzie: Wll, fromeverything that can see
fromwhere | sit, the IRGC is a terrorist organization.

Senator Cranmer: Well, | would say you have a pretty

good seat, pretty good view of that, so thank you for that.

| also then want to -- none of these, by the way, were
in ny original list of things to talk about -- but in your
response to, | think it was Senator Tuberville, you tal ked

about the other relationships, the allied relationships.
You specifically brought up F-35 sales to UAE, for exanple,

as an exanple. And you tal ked about the | ong sl og.
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Specifically to the UAE and the F-35s -- and, in fact,

| et nme back up for a second. | just read a report -- |
cannot keep track of ny weeks -- either earlier this week or
last, | think it was |ast week, reports of |eadership at

UAE, Saudi | eadership not even taking phone calls fromU. S

| eadership as a result of sone of this. Do you think the F-
35 sal es to UAE shoul d have gone through sooner, and should
we be doing it as soon as possible? You know, what are the
ram fications if we do not do it in this inperfect solution
world we live in?

General MKenzie: Wll, | think, in general, any tine
we undertake weapons sales to a foreign nation you want to
do it as soon as practically possible. 1In an advanced
systemlike the F-35 -- and | am not an expert on the
procurenent and delivery of that weapon system-- it is
going to take sone tinme to get there. It is not a system
that you can build rapidly beyond the existing scal e of
production, so it is going to take sone tine to be there.
But | think our friends sonetinmes find it frustrating when
the timeline slips and goes well into the future.

Senator Craner: So do you have a basic phil osophy of
how you have the appropriate guardrails in our systemthat
provides a confort level for the overseers who have to
provide a confort |evel for the people we work for and then

mai nt ai ni ng those rel ati onshi ps?
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GCeneral McKenzie: Sir, | can talk nore about it in a
cl osed session, but briefly the answer is yes, | am
confortable with those guardrails.

Senator Craner: Al right. Thank you, General
McKenzi e.

General Townsend, in ny |last mnute just some questions
of ny favorite topic, and honestly, we all, | think,
struggle with the mai ntenance of | egacy systens and naki ng
room for nodern systens, particularly in the ISRrealm So
| amjust going to ask you a very open-ended questi on.

Are you getting the I SR you need? Are you concerned
about any gaps in | SR coverage, and do you have any thoughts
or, literally and seriously and sincerely, any thoughts for
us as we consider the balance of all of that?

General Townsend: Thanks, Senator. No conbat ant
commander has the ISR they wish to have. AFRI COM does the
best work we can with the ISR that we are all ocated.
could certainly use nore | SR

Your point about the | egacy ISR systens and
transitioning to nore capable systens, | think that is
sonmet hing that our nation is doing and our services are
doing for the future. W have to do that because we need
platforns that are nore capabl e agai nst the higher-end
conpetitors. However, in theaters |ike m ne, and even

General MKenzie's, the |legacy | SR systens that we have work
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just fine. W do not exquisite, high-end capabilities to do
the work we are doing in Africa. But | do understand why
our Departnent needs those for other theaters.

Senator Craner: | appreciate you both. Thank you.
Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Craner.

Senat or Rosen, pl ease.

Senator Rosen: Thank you, Chairman Reed and Ranki ng
Menber | nhofe for holding this hearing. | would also |ike
to thank Generals MKenzie and Townsend for testifying today
and, of course, for your service to our country. And
General MKenzie, as this will be the last tinme before our
comm ttee, thank you for your decades of distinguished
service to our nation, for |eading the brave nen and wonen
of our Arned Forces and navigating the nmany chal | enges
wi thin Central Conmand. Thank you.

And General MKenzie, | want to talk a little bit about
conbatting Iranian aggression. As | have noted in several
previ ous hearings, Iran and Irani an-backed mlitia groups
are increasingly targeting U S. installations and
servi cemenbers in both Irag and Syria via drone and rocket
attacks. W do not even have to | ook beyond this weekend,
when the IRGC clained credit for mssile attacks on the U S
Consulate in Irbil. On a regular basis Iran, the world's

| eadi ng state sponsor of terrorismthreatens U S. and allied
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interests in the Mddle East and around the world, via both
direct attacks, |like the ones we have just w tnessed, and
through its support for Hezbollah and the Islamc republic's
other terrorist proxies.

So can you discuss the threat Iranian-aligned mlitia
groups in the Mddle East pose to U. S. troops and our
allies, and how do you believe the U S. should respond, how
are you addressing the threat, and does CENTCOM have the
necessary authorities to target these mlitias, other than
the ability to act in self-defense?

General McKenzie: Senator, first of all you are right.
Iran fonments a particularly virulent formof anti-

Americani smacross the theater. It is a long-term objective
of Iran for the United States to be forced to exit the
region. They see the principal battleground for that as
bei ng Irag because that is where we are the nost

distributed. That is where we are nost vul nerable. And for
the |l ast couple of years they have actually tried to pursue
a political solution to that. That has not worked out for
them The seated government of Ilraqg is interested in
maintaining a long-termrelationship with the United States,
and, in, fact, with NATO

And what that has done is it has driven Iran and its
proxies, its proxies in particular, to seek kinetic

solutions to push us out. They believe that by causing a
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significantly high |l evel of pain we are going to | eave, and
that actually, of course, has not proven to be the case.

For one thing, over the past several nonths, they have
attacked us. They have not been particularly successful
with those attacks, and there are a nunber of reasons for
that. First of all, comranders on the ground, our
commanders on the ground, have been very aggressive in
protecting their nmen and wonen, by actions that we take when
we | earn of an inpending attack. Second, our anti-drone
systens are beginning to work. It has taken us awhile to
get to this point, but | amgratified to see that capability
comng forward. And finally, their own attacks have not
al ways been the nost artfully conceived and execut ed.

One point | would nmake, we do not believe the attack of
this |l ast weekend, the ballistic mssiles, was actually
targeted agai nst us. W believe it was goi ng agai nst ot her
targets, hit near us, and if that would have been the sane -
- and | can talk nore about it in the closed session.

But in order to close out your question, ma'am | do
have the authorities | need to act in U S. Central Command
agai nst Iranian proxies, should the threat require ne to do
t hat .

Senat or Rosen: Thank you. | want to nove on a little
bit to Israel. Nowthat Israel is wthin CENTCOM s area of

responsibility it is ny sincere hope that this transfer wl|
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potentiate even greater mlitary cooperation between U. S.,
| srael, and our shared goals, as well as greater cooperation
bet ween our Arab and Israeli partners.

So, Ceneral MKenzie, building on Senator Gl librand' s
guestion on | everagi ng the Abraham Accords, are there pl ans
to integrate joint exercises with Israel and Arab states who
signed normalization agreenents with Israel, and what do you
see as the greatest benefits and opportunities to Israeli
I ncl usi on i n CENTCOW?

CGeneral MKenzie: Senator, | would say that bringing
CENTCOM into the AOR real ly operationalizes the Abraham
Accord, and it puts a mlitary conponent to the broad
normal i zation that is already proceeding with Israel and
many of its Arab nei ghbors.

Now in terns of practical things we can do right now,
nunber one is integrated air and mssile defense. Everyone
in the region is seized by the Iranian threat and they want
to be able to defend thensel ves agai nst that threat, and
that threat is primarily in the air. Setting aside the
proxi es, which we tal ked about, it is primarily Iran's
ballistic mssiles, their cruise mssiles, and their UASs.
So that is a significant issue for nations in the region.
| srael is going to be able to assist us in all of those
ar eas.

Additionally, in specific answer to your question, we
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have been and will continue to expand Israel's participation
and exercises across the region. That is an inval uabl e tool
for getting partners to know each other and |aying plans for
t he future.

Senator Rosen: Thank you. And M. Chairman, | have
guestions for the record for General Townsend about Chi nese
technology in Africa, and I will submt themfor the record.
Thank you bot h.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Rosen.

Senat or Bl ackburn, please.

Senat or Bl ackburn: Thank you, M. Chairman, and thank
you to each of you for being with us today.

Ceneral MKenzie, | want to go back to this Iran deal,
because the threat assessnment, the annual threat assessnent

noted that they anticipated that Iran would continue to

threaten U S. interests, U S. individuals. | have read
public reports of themthreatening you. | know that this
Iran deal would unlock billions of dollars for Iran, and |

am very concerned about what they would do with that noney.
They have already recently, and in the recent past, the past
decade, $16 billion is what we know of that they have
transferred to these terrorist groups.

So the IRGC, you nentioned, as Senator Rosen just
tal ked about the attack this week, but Iran goes in to fill

t hese power vacuuns. W have seen, and we have tal ked a
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good bit about AFRI COM and Wagner and the way they are
filling that, and CGeneral Kurilla, when he was with us for
his confirmati on hearing, touched on the risk that sanctions
relief to Iran would make to us and to our interests because
of this nmoney transfer.

Do you agree with General Kurilla as we are tal king
about a new JCPQA or a new Iran deal and unleashing all of
this noney to then? Are you concerned about that and how
that woul d be used by these proxy groups and the way they
woul d benefit fromthat?

General MKenzie: Senator, our primry policy
objective wwth Iran is to prevent them from having a nucl ear
weapon.

Senator Bl ackburn: And we realize that and appreciate
t hat .

General McKenzie: And so | amnot an expert on the
negoti ations that are currently going on, so | amnot able
to give you --

Senator Bl ackburn: |s your expectation they would be
nore | ethal, that they woul d nove forward with devel oping --
General McKenzie: | would say that there is a risk

that they could use that noney in ways that we woul d not
want themto use that noney. | can certainly say that is a
risk. But | think that we woul d have to bal ance that if we

got a good agreenent that prevented them from obtaining a
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nucl ear weapon.

Senator Bl ackburn: Okay. Al right. So | know that
the JCPOA, under the terns for that they could buy weapons
from Russia and China as of October 2020, and they woul d be
able to buy advanced weaponry and ballistic mssiles from
Russi a next year. So what is your concern about their
ability to purchase arns from Russia or China? Wuld they
be able to purchase even nore | ethal weapons, if they get
t hat sanctions rel ease, and what would that do with the
capabilities for the Houthis or for any of these other
terrorist organi zations?

Ceneral MKenzie: Senator, over the last 4 or 5 years,
under a very significant sanctions regine, |Iran has nade
remar kabl e advances in their ballistic mssiles. | believe
if open to bringing in advanced weapons from ot her states,
such as you have naned, it would increase the risk in the
t heat er consi derably.

Senator Bl ackburn: Have we provided everything to the
| sraeli governnment that they have requested in order to
respond to an Iranian nucl ear buil dup?

General McKenzie: Senator, at nmy level, at the Chief

of Defense level, we are in conplete agreenent about the way

ahead and about what we are giving them | cannot talk

about the whol e-of -governnent, but | can talk about it in ny
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Senator Bl ackburn: Well, | was pleased to see the
realignnent of Israel fromEUCOMto CENTCOM | felt like
that was the right nove, and | was happy to see CENTCOM s
conbi ned naval exercise involving Israel, the UAE, Bahrain.
That was | ast Novenber. So how are you actively working
wWith partner nations to integrate the IDF into the regi ona
security architecture?

General McKenzie: | think the I owhanging fruit is an
integrated air and mssile defense. All of these nations
see the threat fromlran -- the ballistic mssile threat,
the cruise mssile threat, the unmanned aerial systemthreat
-- and they want to be able to defend thenselves. And |
think that is where we can nake great headway invol vi ng
| srael but also other nations in the region, and I wll be

able totalk alittle bit nore about that in the cl osed

sessi on.
Senat or Bl ackburn: In the closed session. Thank you
all. Thank you, M. Chairmnman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Bl ackburn.

Senator Peters, please.

Senator Peters: Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Gentlenen, first let nme congratul ate both of you on
your upcom ng retirenments, and thank you for your collective
82 years of experience between the two of you. That is

truly remarkabl e and outstandi ng service to our country, and
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certainly our nation owes both of you a debt of gratitude
for your sacrifice and commtnent, so thank you so nuch.

In the last few nonths, the United States has announced
the rerouting of $67 mllion of security assistance to the
Lebanese Arned Forces to support nenbers of the mlitary as
Lebanon grapples with some very severe financial challenges.
Not ably, the aid package will include sone |ivelihood
support paynents, and these will go directly to troops to
hel p them weat her the extreme econom c conditions that the
country is facing right now.

So General MKenzie, ny question for you, sir, is can
you di scuss why supporting the Lebanese Arned Forces is a
nati onal security interest for the United States, and nore
broadly, what the U S. can do to support Lebanon during this
time of severe crisis there?

General MKenzie: Senator, | support the $67 mllion
and | support it nore broadly as well. It is our viewthat
t he LAF, the Lebanese Arned Forces, are the sole
representative of the state of Lebanon in terns of defending
itself. As you know, there are conpetitor entities in
Lebanon -- LH, Lebanese Hezbol |l ah, as an exanple -- that
exercise a malign influence, not only inside Lebanon but
I ndeed regionally froma Lebanon base. Qur best hope to
keep the lid on Lebanon is to continue to support the LAF as

the representative of the state of Lebanon.
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And | will just say briefly, the financial situation in
Lebanon is dire. | amnot an econom st but | can recognize
it probably is the worst | have ever seen it, and this noney
Is going to be critical to maintaining cohesion inside the
LAF. And they have perforned very well in the aftermath of
the Beirut port explosion. It was the LAF that did a | ot of
great work there.

So |l think it is in all of our interests for the LAF to
be supported, and supported appropriately, and that would
include allowing its soldiers to feed their famli es.

Senator Peters: GCeneral MKenzie, ny next question is
for you as well. According to UNICEF, at |east 47 children
have been killed or mained in Yenen just in January and
February of this year. 1In total, at |east 10,000 m nors
have been killed or injured since the Saudi-led coalition
began their bonmbing in 2015. And this is in the context of
a conflict in which the UN estimates nearly 377,000 people
have di ed since the conflict began. And now the Wirld Food
Programe is warning that 13 mllion Yenenis are facing
starvati on.

My question for you, General, is very forward. Wat
| everage does the United States have to bring all the
parties to the table, to end this conflict, and what are we
doing to nmake it happen?

CGeneral McKenzie: Senator, so it is ny assessnment --
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and again, | only see a part of the problem we have a
negoti ator who works this at a higher level -- | believe
that the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia is wlling to cone to an
agreenent with events in Yenen. | believe that is
attainable fromtheir end. | think it is the Houthis who
are intent on continuing to prosecute this fight, and |
believe they are prodded directly by their Iranian masters.
And that is the reason that the situation exists now, where
they are firing al nost daily weapons into Saudi Arabia, and
of course as recently as several weeks ago began to fire
ballistic mssiles into UAE. In both cases they were and
are prodded to do it, again, by their sponsors, Iran, who
has no interest, actually, in this war comng to an end, no
interest in solving the humanitarian dispute. And | do not
di spute the tragedy, the trenmendous tragedy of children
bei ng mai med by these weapons. | understand that

conpl etely.

But there is a path forward. Sone of the parties are

willing to take that path. Unfortunately, not all of the
parties are willing to take that path.
Senator Peters: Well, | appreciate your efforts in

working to try to get to that path. Thank you for that.
CGeneral Townsend, in the spring of 2020, sone of
M chi gan's Nati onal Guardsnen engaged with mlitary partners

in Liberia. As part of AFRICOM s Conmmand Advi ce,
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| nvestigations, and Coordination Initiative. | would like
to hear your assessnent of how effective this initiative has
been in pronoting effective mlitary legal frameworks within
a variety of our African partners.

General Townsend: Well, Senator, much |ike our val ues
and our denocracy we also try to pass on our views of the
rul e of | aw whenever we engage with our African partners.
So that programthat you are tal king about is part of that
effort. Every training that we do has discussion about the
rule of law and the law of arnmed conflict. That program
you can debate how effective it is, but I think we have to
actually try. Every tine we engage with our African
partners it is inportant that we tal k about our val ues and
the rule of law and civilian control of the mlitary, et
cetera. So | think it is an inportant program

Senator Peters: Thank you, General. Again,
congratul ations to both of you on your retirenent. Wl
deserved. Thank you for your service to our country.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Peters.

Senat or Haw ey, pl ease.

Senat or Hawl ey: Thank you, M. Chairman. Thanks to
both of you for being here.

General McKenzie, if |I could start with you. You

directed U S. Arny Central to investigate the events
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surroundi ng the Abbey Gate bonbi ng on August 26, 2021. |Is
that correct?

General McKenzie: Senator, that is correct.

Senator Hawl ey: And they issued, in fact, a report.
| s that correct?

General MKenzie: Senator, they did.

Senator Hawl ey: Totaling about, | think, 2,000 pages.
You said, in aletter to the Secretary, "I have reviewed the
I nvestigation conpleted at ny direction by U S. Arny Central
and concur with and endorse the findings," end quote. |Is
that correct?

General McKenzie: That is correct.

Senat or Hawl ey: And do you stand by that, Ceneral ?

CGeneral MKenzie: | do.

Senator Hawl ey: Let's talk about some of the findings,
if we could. This commttee has been told repeatedly, was
told repeatedly that the coll apse of the Afghan Security
Forces on such a rapid tinetable could not be predicted.

For exanple, General MIlley testified to this conmttee, and
| am going to quote himnow, quote, "There was nothing | or
anyone el se saw," end quote, that suggested the rapid
col | apse of Afghan Security Forces on the tinetable that
they did coll apse.

The CENTCOM report that you ordered, | think to put it

gently, cast sone doubt on that. For exanple, it says
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General MIler -- that is the commander on the ground, of
course, as you know, General -- General MIller was extrenely
worried from May 2nd onward about the rapid coll apse of the
Security Forces, especially as he was seeing key districts
fall. O course, Ceneral MIler also has testified to this
comrittee that he warned you, CGeneral MIley, and Secretary
Austin as early as March or April about the rapid collapse
of the Security Forces. The report al so says, quote, "Rear
Adm ral Vasely provided assessnents weeks prior to the fal
of the Afghan governnent that the trajectory of Afghanistan
was in a dowward spiral and likely not recoverable," end
quot e.

General, can you confirmfor us, based on the findings
in the report, that the Admi nistration was, in fact, warned
t hat Afghan Security Forces and the government coul d
collapse rapidly after we left, and by "we" | nean our
mlitary forces who evacuated fully in July?

General McKenzie: Senator, | wll answer that but
first I would Iike to very briefly talk about the Abbey Gate
i nvestigation. That was a narrowmy scoped investigation to
determ ne what happened at Abbey Gate. The quotations you
are drawing fromtestinony inside it were not part of the
formal final findings of the investigation. That does not
mean they are accurate or inaccurate. They are just sinply

not --
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Senator Hawl ey: They are in the report, though,
General. Correct?

General McKenzie: There are 14,000 pages in the
report, involving a ot of testinony froma |ot of people,
and | amsure they are in the report. However, they are not
the reason the report was created and they were not in the
formal final findings of the report, which was focused on
the nature of the attack at Abbey Gate.

Now having said that, as early as -- and | have
testified here earlier today and in the past, as early as
the fall of 2020, ny reconmendati on was -- not nmny
recommendation but ny view was that if you go below 4,500 in
Af ghani stan that would be a m stake, put us on a sl ope that
we woul d not be able to recover from And then also, in the
spring of 2021, General MIler and | both agreed that 2,500
was a nunber that we could maintain in Afghanistan. That is
not ultimately the nunber that was selected. But we had the
opportunity of full and free airing of our views, which |
think is all any conmander can ask. Another decision was
made, which is the way the process is supposed to work.

Senator Hawl ey: Fair enough. Fair enough. You did,
in fact, it sounds like to ne, and the report certainly
i ndi cates that the Adm nistration was warned and that you
wer e i gnored.

This investigation contains other remarkabl e testinony
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about the State Departnent and the Wiite House's

di sengagenent. Let ne just go through a little bit of that.
Mul ti ple sources said, for the record, for the testinony to
the State Departnent, he refused even to tal k about a
civilian evacuation until it was too |ate, that they del ayed
efforts to start evacuati ng Anericans. For exanpl e,
Brigadier General Sullivan told investigators, and | am
goi ng to quote hi mnow, quote, "Trying to get the enbassy to
di scuss non-conbat ant evacuati on operations was |like pulling
teeth until early August.” He goes on to say, "The enbassy
didn't fully participate in evacuation planning until a week
prior to the fall of Kabul." And other Marine said that as
a result of the State Departnent's intransi gence, quote, "W
essentially planned the evacuation in about 5 days," end
quot e.

Ceneral, is it fair to say the State Departnment's
del ays underm ned the broader evacuation effort?

CGeneral McKenzie: | think the Departnent of State
always tries to find a solution to remain engaged in a
country. It is alien to their nature to cut and run. They
prefer to not do that. | would tell you that we were
i nvolved in a lot of discussions back and forth with the
State Departnent, beginning in the spring of that year, and
even earlier, in fact, as we | ooked at possible

contingenci es for departure.
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Senator Hawl ey: So, yeah, you said you were engaged in
di scussions with the State Departnent. Wat the report
shows is that the State Departnent refused, and frankly the
Wi te House refused to engage until the very last m nute.
For exanple, this is the testinony again of Rear Admral
Vasely. On the norning of August 14th, he says, "The
anbassador there in Kabul finally got a call from National
Security Advisor Sullivan and Secretary Blinken who told
him the anbassador, we needed to nove. W had heard the
ni ght before that they were | ooking at a 2-week plan to get
250 U. S. personnel to HKIA and get them out by 31 August.
|"--Vasely--"told himhe didn't have 2 weeks, that he only
had 24 to 48 hours."” Vasely goes on, "I would |ike to know
where this |l evel of urgency to get these people in before
August 15th was before because it didn't exist until it
becane a crisis."

| could go on and on here, Ceneral. There are
t housands of pages here. And | want to thank you for
ordering this investigation. | think that was the right
thing to do. | wish this commttee would show sone i nterest
init. M staff and | have been through all of it that is
publicly available. It is astounding, frankly.

So thank you for ordering it. Thank you for what you
were able to uncover. | again call on this commttee to

have hearings on this report, which is nowin the public
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domai n, much of it, and that, frankly, contains shocking

I nformati on about this Admnistration's total failure to
plan for the coll apse of the Afghan Security Forces, despite
bei ng warned about it for nonths upon nonths, and to

W t hdraw Anerican civilians in tine before the tragedy at
Abbey Gate, which led to the death of 13 servicenenbers.

| have got nore questions for you for the record.
Thank you, M. Chairnman.

Senator King: M. Chairman, as a nenber of the
Intelligence Conmttee | can assure the Senator that there
were not nonths and nonths of warning of inmmnent coll apse.
that is categorically untrue, and I w sh the Senator woul d
get off of this hobby horse.

Senator Haw ey: My | --

Chairman Reed: Gentlenen --

Senator Hawl ey: -- open session --

Chairman Reed: Gentlenen, | wll now recognize --

Senator Hawl ey: But M. Chairman, the Senator | ust
i nvoked ne. Has the Senator read the 2,000-plus pages --

Chai rman Reed: Senator Haw ey --

Senator Hawl ey: Whuld you |ike --

Chai rman Reed: -- your time has expired.

Senat or Hawl ey: Do you have any interest in it?

Chai rman Reed: Senator Haw ey, your tine has expired.

Senator Hawl ey: Do you doubt what | am quoting? Do
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you think that | am m squoting this evidence? Before the
Senat or inpugns ny integrity in an open session | would |ike
himto at | east give ne the courtesy of reading the materi al
that | am quoting and engage with it.

Senator King: | would be glad to do so.

Chai rman Reed: Senator Sullivan, please.

Senator Sullivan: Thank you, M. Chairman, and
gentlenen, | want to also reiterate what many have said
here. Thank you for your service, exceptional service to
our nation. | know facing retirenent probably one of the
t hi ngs you are nost happy about is you probably do not have
to testify in front of this conmttee again, but we really
appreciate all you have done for our nation.

I wanted to follow up on the inportant questions
Senator Warren had asked about civilian casualties. Nobody
wants civilian casualties, of course. One question that was
not asked, though, that | think is inportant, we do not
target civilians, ever, our mlitary, do we, General
McKenzi e? Ceneral Townsend?

CGeneral McKenzie: Senator, we do not target civilians.

Senator Sullivan: General Townsend, in your
experience?

General Townsend: You are absolutely right, not I|ike
what we see in Ukraine right now.

Senator Sullivan: Right. But other countries do.
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Correct?

Ceneral MKenzie: | can only observe what you are
seei ng in Wkraine.

Senator Sullivan: Ukraine. Syria, perhaps.

CGeneral MKenzie: Many other pl aces.

Senator Sullivan: 1SIS. A Queda. So we do not do
that. It is just inportant to recognize and say that for
the record, and | know that has been your experience in your
conmmand.

You know, | was in, like a |lot of Senators, as part of
a bipartisan delegation to the Munich Security Conference.
| went on to do consultation wth allies in NATO and the EU
i n London, and it was nostly about Ukraine, sone Asia-
Pacific issues. | was actually quite surprised how
literally, in every nmeeting, our allies raised with ne the
Af ghani stan wi t hdrawal and how it underm ned U. S.
credibility and trust, particularly as it related to NATO
allies that were also in the country.

Ceneral, what do you recommend is our best way to
regain that credibility? | did not raise it. It was raised
inliterally every neeting with nme, and it was quite an
| nportant experience that | had, that hey, this is still
havi ng an i npact. Wat would you say is the best way to re-
establish that kind of credibility and trust with our

allies, particularly NATO al lies?
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CGCeneral McKenzie: Senator, | think there is still a
thirst for US. Ileadership. There is certainly a thirst for
it in nmy region, where | interact with chiefs of defense
daily and have visited literally every one several tines
since we | eft Afghanistan. They are taken aback by it.
They still believe that the United States remains their
partner of choice and, in fact, their preferred choi ce.

Now NATOis a little bit out of ny wheel house, but |
would tell you that | think the things that we are doing
wi th NATO right now are things that absolutely restores sone
of that.

Senator Sullivan: Good.

CGeneral McKenzie: | think fromwhat | see, fromny
perch on the sideline, it is CENTCOM | ooki ng i nto what
Eur opean Command is doing and NATO is doing, and this
Administration is doing, | think they are doing all the
right things to re-establish that.

Senator Sullivan: GCkay. Good. Thank you.

| noticed that in your CENTCOM priorities, deter Iran
is listed at the top. |Is that your nunber one priority?

General MKenzie: Sir that is ny nunber one priority.

Senator Sullivan: And let ne talk about -- | amsure
you are famliar with this, the Quds Force, Cenera
Sol ei mani, starting in about 2004, 2005, supplied very

sophisticated |EDs to the Iragi Shia mlitias in Iraqg. Over
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2,000 Anerican soldiers wounded in action, over 600 killed
I n action because of those EFPs. For years we did not do
much to hold Sol eimani, the Quds Force accountable for this
very devastating killing of our best and brightest. | was
in a hearing when the chairman then, CGeneral Dunford,

menti oned that Sol eimani, in particular, may have | earned
the wong | esson back then, that he could attack Anericans
with i mpunity and not pay a price.

Do you agree with that? | know you were very famli ar
with that. And this is prior to, of course, him being
Killed.

General McKenzie: Well | think he is an objection
| esson that you cannot attack Anericans with inpunity.

Senator Sullivan: So you think that -- were we able to
re-establish some of the deterrence that CGeneral Dunford had
tal ked about by killing him when he was | ooking to kill
nore Anmericans?

General McKenzie: | think that contributed to
deterrence being re-established, and I think that was a
factor in their calculation. The Iranians have never
doubt ed our capability. Cccasionally they doubt our wll.

Senator Sullivan: And you think that has been re-
est abl i shed now?

General McKenzie: Yes, but |I think as with all things

with Iran, it is an extraordinarily conpl ex subject, and I
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think there is deterrence but it is what | would cal
contested deterrence. They still seek to push us out by
hurting us, and they will continue to do so.

Senator Sullivan: Let nme ask one final question. You
were quoted in a New Yorker article in Decenber of 2020,
titled "The Loom ng Threat of a Nuclear Crisis with Iran,”
where you were quoted as saying that "a nore i nmedi ate
threat than the nuclear programis Iran's mssiles.”

Two very quick questions. Did the Iranians target the
consulate with this nost recent mssile attack in northern
Iragq, and would re-entering the JCPOA positively or
negatively inpact Iranian ballistic mssile capability,
whi ch you, | think, have rightly called out back in Decenber
as a nmuch nore imedi ate threat fromthen? So two questions
on that. Wre they targeting us?

General McKenzie: They were not. They were not
targeting us.

Senator Sullivan: So we are sure of that.

General McKenzie: | amsure of that.

Senator Sullivan: GCkay. And the second question.

CGeneral MKenzie: The second question is, | think that
Is a hard question. | think, you know, what you would |ike
to do, if you execute a JCPOA you would want to go to
limting other elenents of the Iranian portfolio, and that

woul d be a bridge to get to where you are maybe tal ki ng

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
www.aldersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Trustpoint.One = Alderson.

about ballistic --

Senator Sullivan: Like the mssiles.

Ceneral MKenzie: -- mssiles. You are talking about
proxy activities. So that would give you an opportunity to
try to work that diplomatically.

Senator Sullivan: But should that be part of the

agreenent ?

General McKenzie: Senator, | do not believe that the
current -- it is under the current profile that we are
| ooking at right now | amsaying if you were successful in

negoti ating an agreenent it mght |ead you to an opportunity
for further successful negotiations on other issues.

Senator Sullivan: No, but | amjust asking -- sorry,
M. Chairman -- in your personal opinion, do you think that
threat, which you said is actually nore i medi ate than the
nucl ear threat, should that be part of any agreenment that we
are trying to do with themright now, in your personal
opinion? | know you are not negotiating it.

General McKenzie: | do not believe it is feasible to
come to an agreenent that incorporates both el enents right
now. | do not believe it is feasible in the world we |ive
in, with the state of our negotiations with Iran, it is
feasible to get to both of those things at the sane tine
ri ght now.

Senator Sullivan: Thank you. Thank you agai n,
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gent | enen.
Chai rman Reed: Thank you very nuch, Senator Sullivan.
Senat or Scott, please.
Senator Scott: | want to thank both of you for your

service and | wish you the best of luck in your retirenent.

| hope you nove to Florida. You will enjoy the weather and
t he taxes.
General McKenzie, | am hearing that M ddl e Eastern

fighters are right now joining the Russians and attacking
the Ukraine. Do you have any know edge that this is true?

General MKenzie: W believe that out of Syria there
are perhaps small, small, very small groups of people that
may be trying to make their way to Ukraine, but | have got
not hi ng beyond that, and | can talk a little nore about that
in the closed session. Very small. Right nowit is a very
smal | trickle.

Senator Scott: Ckay. General MKenzie, the State
Departnment says there are about 182 citizens left in
Af ghani stan to evacuate. Do you know if that is accurate,
and is there anything CENTCOM is doing to help then?

General MKenzie: The nunber | amtracking is about
153 U. S. citizens and about 2,100 | ong-term per manent
residents that are there. Sone people want to cone out.
Sone people do not want to cone out. It is ny understanding

that if sonmeone wants to | eave and they are a U.S. citizen

www.trustpoint.one 800.FOR.DEPO
www.aldersonreporting.com (800.367.3376)



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Trustpoint.One = Alderson.

100

they are going to be able to | eave. And we have regularly
scheduled flights that actually fly. CENTCOMis prepared to
repatriate them when they cone to what we call a lily pad in
the theater, whether that is in Qatar or in UAE, where they
can be nedically assessed and noved on, you know, back to
the United States if they are an American citizen. And we
are fully prepared to support the | ead agency in this, who
Is the Departnent of State.

Senator Scott: Thank you. Wat has Central Conmand
been doing to punish ISIS-K for the killing of our mlitary
per sonnel at Abbey Gate, and right now do you think ISIS K
Is getting stronger under the Taliban or weaker?

General MKenzie: W are concerned about the
devel opnental trajectory of I1SIS-K in Afghanistan. And in
the closed session | can talk a little bit nore about what
we are | ooking at, when we | ook into Afghanistan, and in
particular at the ISIS elenents that were associated with
t hat attack.

Senator Scott: Al right. Mving on to the Iran deal,
it appears, and you talked to Senator Blackburn a little bit
about this, that about $90 billion in sanctions relief m ght
be awarded to the Iranian governnent, when then they will be
able to use to fonent nore terrorism So if that happens,
what resources woul d CENTCOM have, and our allies have, to

put up to be able to fight these proxies?
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General McKenzie: Senator, | have got to be honest
W th you. | amnot an economist. | amnot famliar with
the econom c inpacts of that deal. | would say this. From

where | sit, the nunber one objective that | have been given
is we do not want Iran to have a nucl ear weapon. And it
woul d seemto nme that approaching that through a diplomatic
solution would be the best way to get to that end.

| recogni ze there are second-order effects that m ght
proceed fromthat, in terns of sanctions relief, and |
acknow edge that.

Senator Scott: You spoke a little bit earlier about
nore cooperation wth Israel. Are there things that we need
to be doing in the NDAA that woul d hel p make sure we
continue to expand our opportunities with Israel?

CGeneral McKenzie: Sir, | think right noww are in a
pretty good place in ternms of cooperation with Israeli as
the | atest nenber of Central Command area of responsibility.
| think | have all the authorities and perm ssions | need to
nove forward on that.

Senator Scott: General Townsend, when you | ook at
t hese maps you see Communi st China has quite a few goals in
Africa. One is to continue to develop mlitary bases. So
if they are continuing to be able to develop nore mlitary
basi s, including the one in Equatorial Guinea, what threats

will that pose to the United States?
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General Townsend: Senator, | can be nore specific in
cl osed session, and | |look forward to that. But suffice it
to say they are not on the Atlantic coast of Africa. That
s going to put them several thousand mles closer to the
U.S. honeland if they get a base on the Atlantic coast of
Afri ca.

Senator Scott: So this is a general question for both
of you. You know, we have watched the Wkraine situation and
we have been able to do sanctions against Russia, which it
sure seens |ike that could have a positive inpact and
hopefully reduce their ability to fund the war effort. How
I nportant do you think it is when we have an adversary,
whether it is Russia or China or Iran, that we do everything
we can to nmake sure they do not have the resources to
continue to devel op, and we should do everything we can to
make sure that our citizens are not dependent on them for
any resources, such as, in China' s case, pharmaceuticals,
things like that. Do you think this is inportant, it makes
your job easier if we are not dependent on other countries?

CGeneral MKenzie: Senator, it nmakes ny job a | ot
easier if we have a whol e-of - governnent approach to the
problenms that we confront. You know, the Departnent of
Treasury, all the econom c power of the United States, al
the diplomatic power of the United States is welded in

concert, and preferably as a substitute for the mlitary
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el ement of power. That is by far the nost effective way to
obtai n our goals.

CGeneral Townsend: | cannot say it better than that.

Senator Scott: And do you think our mlitary power
shoul d be the | ast thing we use?

General MKenzie: Yes. As a general principle we have
far nore effective tools to address these problens. The
mlitary el enent of power should be in support of all other
el enments of U S. national power.

CGeneral Townsend: | agree.

Senator Scott: Thank you.

Chai rman Reed: Thank you, Senator Scott. At this
point | will adjourn the open hearing. The closed session
wi |l reconvene at 12 noon in SVC-217. Again, thank you,
gentl enen, for your testinony, and we will see you shortly.

[ Wher eupon, at 11:43 a.m, the hearing was adjourned.]
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